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Our aim

We aim to exceed our Customers’ expectations through the provision of superior 
technology and customer service excellence.

We are unswerving in our efforts to achieve growth and reach our business objectives 
for the benefit of our loyal Shareholders.

We hold our Employees in high esteem and aim to provide a pleasant environment 
in which to develop their full potential.

We aim to carry out our corporate social responsibility functions and to support the 
Community of which we form part.

mission statement
& business philosophy
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The past year may be considered to be the year in which RS2 established 
its potential and confirmed its capability to provide solutions both to Banking 
and Service Provider clients that dominate the Tier 1 segment of the diverse 
transaction payment industry. 

All the previous years’ efforts to continually enhance the product offer in particular 
the confirmation of our high volume processing capability have resulted in a tangibly 
entry into the Tier 1 segment of our industry.

The financial results for the year ended December 2013 confirms our ability to 
generate healthy profits year after year. Our strategy to anticipate growth by investing 
in our infrastructure, research and development and our human resource element 
has enabled us to continue to meet the ever-increasing demands of our established 
and new clients alike. We will continue to invest in these segments.

I must express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their continued support. 
Indeed this support is witnessed by the healthy appreciation of the company’s 
market value throughout the past year. We are also grateful to our clients for their 
continued contribution to the enhancement of BankWORKS® making it a more robust 
and diverse product and certainly a leader in the world of transaction processing 
and card management.
 
I would be amiss if I do not once again express my gratitude to our Board of Directors 
who provide constant support, to our energetic C.E.O. for his unrelenting hard work 
and to our staff who share the same vision and dedication to achieve the required 
standards that are necessary for success in our industry.

Mario Schembri
ChAIRMAN
22 April 2014

The financial results 
for the year ended 

December 2013 
confirms our ability 
to generate healthy 

profits year after year.
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We listen closely to our 
customers, study industry/

consumer trends and 
constantly adapt our 
products to suit their 

current as well as their 
future needs.
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chief executive officer’s review
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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Ever since I joined the Company in 1997, I have seen it grow and develop in all 
respects. My appointment as CEO in January 2012, gave me the opportunity to 
further shape and refine our strategies to ensure the growth and development 
of our business, and thus build long-term value for our clients, shareholders, 
colleagues and stakeholders.

Throughout these last years, successive annual reports have traced our investment in 
new premises in Mosta, the launch of new services through RS2 Smart Processing 
Ltd and the critically important pursuit of R&D on the BankWORKS® system. The new 
premises provide a state-of-the-art working environment and space in which our teams 
can function effectively and creatively. As a result, through our managed services we 
can offer world class secure out-sourcing services. The new managed service has 
enabled us to diversify our offering by attracting new market segments. The sale of 
the new set of services being provided will generate yet another source of revenue for 
the company.

During 2013, the growth in the value of RS2 was fully underpinned by an increase in 
revenues, overall strong financial performance and an expansion of the client base. This 
is a testament to the proven relevance of the strategies employed. It is an  achievement 
that reflects the quality of our product, our unwavering customer-driven focus, and our 
commitment to the highest levels of service,  all of which are delivered by some of the 
most capable and talented people in our industry.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS 

Among the highlights of 2013 was the successful award of the Barclays contract and 
their subsequent investment in RS2. The year also saw the development, launch and 
growth of RS2 Smart Processing services. Meanwhile, we also saw the growth in 
business from key clients who are using our BankWORKS® system as their core engine 
to support their own growth in new markets, such as Latin America and Africa. 

Looking to the future, we have capacity for growth in our operating environments, 
while the markets that we serve are forecasting continued growth over the next five 
years. Specifically, our strategy of having both a Licensed Software division and a 
Software as a Service (SaaS) division enables us to support an increased range 
of opportunities from the forecast market growth with confidence. We will need to 
maintain levels of investment in the R&D of the BankWORKS® software in addition 

6.2%
increase in total 

Company revenue 
in 2013 when 

compared to 2012.
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to supporting the expansion of the service division, both of which are being funded 
through retained capital, thus ensuring that we are able to grow in a controlled and 
sustainable manner.

MARKET VISIBILITY & MARKETING PRESENCE

Throughout the year in review, we maintained our investment in marketing strategies. 
Key activities during 2013 included the placing of exhibition stands and participation at 
key industry events, including ETA in New Orleans, EHI in Bonn and Cards & Payments 
Middle East in Dubai. These activities, combined with a revamp of our sales collaterals 
and proposals, have generated significant interest and new opportunities, through 
requests for information, tenders and proposal requests from an increasing number 
of Tier 1 banks, transaction processors and card schemes. For 2014, we are planning 
further investment in our R&D in the Mobile Payment arena, as well as sales and 
marketing capabilities to further elevate the positioning and visibility of BankWORKS® 
within our target markets and client segments. We will continue emphasising the 
differentiation of both our software and managed service businesses, which we are 
planning to expand significantly through the capability of BankWORKS®.

Financial Highlights

During 2013, RS2 continued to build on the momentum of the previous year’s 
performance and consolidated the delivery of another very positive year both for the 
Company and the Group.

The Company 

Total revenue for 2013 amounted to €13.5m representing a 6.2% increase over 2012. 
In 2013, the revenue mix was very similar to that of the previous year, with 49% of the 
total revenue for 2013 made up of licence fees for the use of BankWORKS®.

The cost of sales for the year ended 2013 amounted to €6.4m, an increase of 18% over 
the previous year. Due to the expansion and the increase in RS2’s global client base 
and system implementation, the Company continued to invest in its infrastructure and 
human resources. As a result, gross profit margin for the year stood at €7.1m a slight 
decrease of 3% over 2012.

we are planning 
further investment in 

our R&D in the Mobile 
payment arena, 

sales and marketing 
capabilities to further 

elevate the positioning 
and visibility of 
BankWORKS®
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In accordance with accounting rules and regulations, the Company recognised a 
notional cost of €0.4m on the shares granted to its employees as part of the share 
option scheme for services provided in 2013. This cost is a non-cash expense and 
was transferred to the Share Option Reserve. As the share option is exercised by our 
eligible employees, this cost will gradually be transferred to the Retained Earnings 
Reserve.

In 2013, the Company, in line with its strategy, continued to invest in its BankWORKS® 
product, and has capitalised development costs of €0.4m. The Company’s main aim is 
to keep BankWORKS® updated with the latest technology in the market and therefore 
committed to keep investing heavily in its core product and maintain BankWORKS® at 
the forefront, so as to retain the existing client base whilst attracting new clients.

For the year under review, profit before tax (PBT) amounted to €5.1m a decrease of 
10% when compared to 2012. Tax for the year amounted to €1.7m comprising mainly 
the movement in deferred tax asset. The Company continued to benefit from the 
accumulated Investment Tax Credits under the Malta Enterprise Act. 

In the past two years, the Company utilised a significant amount of the accumulated 
tax credit, and as a consequence it registered a shift from a deferred tax asset in the 
balance sheet to a deferred tax liability of €1.5m.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) for 2013 
amounted to €6.5m, a decrease of €0.4m and reflects the strong position of the 
Company’s core profitability for 2013.

The Group

On a consolidated basis, the Group registered a 33% increase in revenue when 
compared to 2012. This is explained by the elimination of intra-group sales in 2012, 
coupled with new revenues generated by a subsidiary in 2013. 

Gross profit for the Group increased by €1.9m when compared to 2012. 

Profit before taxation amounted to € 4.3m, an increase of 35% over 2012. 

The Group generated cash from operation of €4.3m compared to €1.0m generated in 
2012. At year end, the Group’s cash reserves stood at €3.6m.

increase in Group 
revenue of 

33% 
when compared

to 2012.
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We are very excited about potential opportunities that exist for the Group. At the same 
time, we have always worked towards mitigating possible risks. With the support and 
advice of our Board and the experience of our executive management and employees, 
we look forward to continue sharing our achievements with our stakeholders.

I would like to take this opportunity to join our Chairman in extending my gratitude to 
our esteemed Board of Directors, colleagues and shareholders for their dedication and 
continuous support.

Radi Abd El Haj
Chief Executive Officer
22 April 2014
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Dr Robert Tufigno LL.D.
Non-Executive Director

Dr Tufigno LL.D., has vast experience 

in company law, contract law, financial 

services, employment law, maritime 

law, sports law, telecommunications 

law and legislative drafting. Dr 

Tufigno, who is also an Arbitrator, 

has practised in the fields of general 

commercial law, property law and 

litigation. He has also acted as 

Chairman of Malta’s Employment and 

Training Corporation and as Chairman 

of Malta’s Housing Authority, and as 

past Board Director of Lohombus 

Bank. Dr Tufigno is a Partner at GTG 

Advocates.

Mario Schembri
Chairman of the Board

Mr Schembri has extensive knowledge 

related to card management systems, 

with diverse exposure to the international 

card organisations including VISA 

International, MasterCard and DINERS 

Club International. Mr Schembri 

has extensive knowledge relating to 

retail banking operations, product 

management and co-ordination. Up 

to the time of joining the Company, Mr 

Schembri had been in the banking 

industry for 26 years. He joined 

RS2 in 1999 as Regional Manager, 

Mediterranean Region and took on the 

role of Deputy Chief Executive Officer in 

2006. Mr Schembri was appointed Chief 

Executive Officer in January 2008 and 

Chairman in January 2012.

Radi Abd El Haj
Chief Executive Officer

Mr El Haj joined RS2 in 1997 as a 

Project Manager for Tier 1 European 

banks where he was responsible for 

the implementation of corporate card 

programs, later promoted to Customer 

Relationship Manager in 2002 and Head 

of Sales and Implementation in 2004. In 

the cards and payments industry, Mr El 

Haj specializes in the areas of Issuing, 

Acquiring, Clearing and Settlement, 

e-Commerce, and Accounting. His 

international experience, professional 

contacts in various regions and working 

closely with the Technical and Product 

Development Units within the Group, has 

contributed in providing RS2’s clients 

with a global compliant platform. Mr 

El Haj was appointed Chief Executive 

Officer in January 2012.

board of directors
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Franco Azzopardi
Non-Executive Director

Mr Azzopardi, a Certified Public 

Accountant with a post-graduate MSc 

in Finance, spent twenty seven years 

working in public practice. In 2007 he 

decided to exit the firm he co-founded 

and managed to contribute more in 

the strategic direction of companies. 

He specialises in corporate strategy, 

governance and finance. He is today a 

professional director and a registered 

member of the UK Institute of Directors. 

His portfolio includes directorships on 

Boards and Audit Committees of various 

companies, both local and international, 

in the banking sector, software, private 

equity, professional services and 

media, amongst others. As part of his 

social responsibility he also contributes 

towards the development of the Malta 

Institute of Accountants.

Maurice Xuereb
Non-Executive Director

Mr Xuereb joined Barclays Bank - 

Dominion, Colonial and Overseas - a 

UK-based Barclays Bank subsidiary 

company in 1954. He joined Mid-Med 

Bank in 1975 and occupied various 

managerial and executive positions. 

He held the positions of Assistant and 

Deputy General Manager in various 

areas, including audit, human resources, 

advances, administration, finance, 

marketing and PR. He was instrumental 

in the setting up of the Bank’s cards 

division and for several years occupied 

the position of Honorary Secretary of the 

Malta Banker’s Association.

Christopher Wood
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Wood is a member of the 

Barclaycard Executive committee where 

he is accountable for the Barclaycard 

corporate strategy, governance and 

control environment, payment card 

scheme management and corporate 

communications. Mr. Wood is a 

chartered accountant and holds a BSc 

(Hons) in Business Administration from 

Bath University. He spent his early 

career with Accenture working across 

Financial Services and Comms & Hi-

Tech in Europe, US and Australia. Joined 

Barclays in 2003. Since then he has held 

various roles, including Head of Strategic 

Programmes in the retail and commercial 

bank; Chief of Staff to Antony Jenkins in 

his role as Barclaycard CEO; Director of 

Barclaycard International and Managing 

Director of UK Cards.

Dr Ivan Gatt LL.D.
Company Secretary

Dr Gatt LL.D. represents clients in a broad spectrum of substantive legal areas. 

Having vast experience in advising companies and board committees on corporate 

governance, he has facilitated a variety of transactions, including securities offerings, 

venture capital investments and corporate acquisitions. In addition, he assists clients 

with annual general meeting preparation and gives advice on numerous regulatory 

and compliance matters. Dr Gatt has presided over the Levy Appeals Board and the 

Customs and Excise Tax Appeals Board of the Ministry of Finance. Dr Gatt is the 

Managing Partner at GTG Advocates.
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The growth of RS2 in 2013, both in terms of number of employees and our expanded 
client base, resulted in an expansion of our outreach programme in support of further 
education within the community. We have a long-standing relationship with higher 
education establishments in Malta, where we have fostered links to provide work 
experience, semester placements and workplace positions for newly qualified post-
educational entrants.

Over the past years, our senior executives have actively supported the outreach 
programme through their direct involvement with a number of higher education 
establishments, where they have provided coaching, business talks, workplace tours 
and IT awareness days. We have also provided the resources, materials and support 
for tutors to deliver talks and lectures about the role of IT in the modern economy.

Our outreach programme provides not only value to the community, to education 
establishments and the participants, but also to RS2 itself, namely through the 
programme’s ability to act as a gateway to prospective employees and new ideas. This 
long-standing involvement with the community’s educational establishments, including 
the University of Malta and sixth form colleges, is a great opportunity for us to share the 
insights RS2 has gained in becoming a global provider of specialist financial software. 
It also enables our organization to widen the horizons of young people and show them 
the numerous opportunities that a career in IT in Malta offers.

RS2 Software plc intends to maintain and expand its education outreach programme 
over the next few years by offering further secondment and IT placements, specifically 
targeted towards qualifying and recently qualified students, in its various operating 
centres.

corporate social responsibility
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OUR FACILITIES

RS2 has been investing in a number of enhancements to its facilities, designed to 
improve the quality of employees’ on-the-job experience and to lure new top tech 
talent. The company believes in supporting a healthy work-life balance, and provides 
employees with a well-equipped leisure and games area.
  
We are aware of the fact that people spend most of their waking hours at their place 
of work, and we greatly appreciate our employees’ commitment and loyalty. We will 
therefore continue to strive to make their experience here as positive as possible. At 
the end of the day, a happy team is a productive team.

Committed to 
supporting our 
employees, 
the community 
as well as the 
environment.
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements of RS2 Software p.l.c. (the “Group”), for the year ended 
31 December 2013.

Board of directors
Mr Mario Schembri (Chairman) 
Mr Radi Abd El Haj (CEO)
Mr Maurice Xuereb
Dr Robert Tufigno
Mr Franco Azzopardi
Mr Christopher Wood (appointed on 4 October 2013)

Principal activities
The Group is principally engaged in the development, installation, implementation and marketing of computer software for 
financial institutions under the trade mark of BankWORKS®  and the processing of payment transactions with the use of 
BankWORKS®.

Business review and future developments
A review of the business and performance of the Group during the year under review, and an indication of future developments 
are given in the Chief Executive Officer’s review set out on pages 10 to 14 of this Annual Report.

Dividends
The directors recommend that at the next Annual General Meeting, the shareholders approve the declaration of a dividend of 
€0.02c35 per share amounting to €1,000,000 payable on 12 June 2014.

Reserves
Retained earnings amounting to €13,743,043 for the Company and €10,757,376 for the Group are being carried forward.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.62
Upon due consideration of the Company’s profitability, balance sheet, capital adequacy and solvency, the directors are satisfied  
that at the time of approving the financial statements, the Company has adequate resources to continue operating as a going 
concern for the foreseeable future.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64

Rule 5.64.1 - Share capital structure

On the 13 June 2013, the Company resolved to capitalise a sum not exceeding €500,000 from the Company’s non-distributable 
reserves of the share premium account and to allot the amount so capitalised as fully paid bonus shares to the shareholders of 
the Company.  Following the allotment of 2,500,000 ordinary shares as bonus shares, the Company’s issued share capital is of 
€8,499,991.20 divided into 42,499,956 ordinary shares of €0.20 each, each ordinary share being fully paid up.

All of the issued shares of the Company form part of one class of ordinary shares in the Company, which shares are listed on 
the Malta Stock Exchange.  All of the shares have the same rights and entitlement and rank pari passu between themselves. 
The following are highlights attaching to the ordinary shares:

Dividends:
The shares carry equal right to participate in any distribution of dividends declared by the Company;

directors’ report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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Voting rights:
Each share shall be entitled to one vote at the meetings of the shareholders;

Pre-emption rights:
Subject to the limitations contained in the Memorandum and Articles of Association, shareholders are entitled to be offered 
any new shares to be issued by the Company, in proportion to their current shareholding, before such shares are offered to the 
public or to any person not being a shareholder;

Capital distributions:
The shares carry the right for the holders thereof to participate in any distribution of capital made whether on a winding up or 
otherwise;

Transferability:
The shares are freely transferable in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Malta Stock Exchange applicable from 
time to time;

Other:
The shares are not redeemable.

Rule 5.64.3 - Holding in excess of 5% of the share capital

On the basis of the information available to the Company as at 31 December 2013, Information Technology Management 
Holding Limited (“ITM”) and Barclays Bank Plc (“Barclays”) hold 21,268,338 and 7,756,250 shares respectively, equivalent to 
50.04% and 18.25% of the Company’s total issued share capital. In their capacity as shareholders of ITM, Ulrike Schäffter and 
Radi Abd El Haj indirectly hold, 25.02% and 25.02% of the issued share capital of the Company respectively. As far as the 
Company is aware, no other person holds an indirect shareholding in excess of 5% of its total issued share capital.

Rule 5.64.5 – Employee share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme is administered by the Board of Directors. The decision of the Board on all disputes 
concerning share options is final.

Rule 5.64.7 – Restrictions on transfer of securities

By virtue of an agreement entered between ITM and Barclays, ITM undertook that, for so long as it holds more than 10% of the 
issued share capital of the Company, upon receiving any offer from third parties to acquire securities it holds in the Company, it 
is required to offer any such shares that it is desirous to transfer to Barclays.

Rule 5.64.8 - Appointment and replacement of directors

The Memorandum and Articles of the Company regulates the appointment of directors.   Article 55.1 of the Articles of Association 
provides that a member holding not less than 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company having voting rights or a number 
of members who in the aggregate hold not less than 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company having voting rights 
shall be entitled to nominate fit and proper persons for appointment as directors of the Company.  In addition,   the   directors   
themselves or a committee appointed for the purpose by the directors may make recommendations and nominations to the 
shareholders for the appointment of directors at the next annual general meeting.

Furthermore, in accordance with the provisions of Article 55.1(d) of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors may, at 
any time, appoint a director if it believes that the appointment would be beneficial to the Company due to the skill, expertise and 
knowledge of such person.

Article 55.3 of the Articles of Association of the Company also provides that in the event that the Board is of the opinion that 
none of the directors appointed or elected in accordance with the provisions of these Articles is a non-executive independent  
director  competent  in  accounting  and/or  auditing  as  required  by  the  Listing  Rules  relating  to  the composition of the Audit 
Committee, the Board shall, during the first board meeting after the annual general meeting appoint a person, who is independent 
and competent in accounting and/or auditing as a non-executive director and shall appoint such person to the Audit Committee.

directors’ report (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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Unless they resign or are removed, directors shall hold office for a period of one year.  Directors whose term of office expires or 
who resign or are removed are eligible for re-appointment.

Any director may be removed at any time by the Company in a General Meeting, provided that the director who is to be removed shall 
be given the opportunity of making representations.  A resolution for the appointment and/or removal of a director shall be considered 
to be adopted if it received the assent of more than fifty percent of the members present and voting at the general meeting.

Rule 5.64.8 - Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association

Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company are regulated by the Companies Act, 1995 
(Chapter 386, Laws of Malta).  Subject to the provisions of Article 79 of the Act, and the approval of the Listing Authority, the 
Company may by extraordinary resolution alter or add to its Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Rule 5.64.9 - Powers of the board members

The directors are vested with the management of the Company, and their powers of management and administration emanate 
directly from the Memorandum and Articles of Association and the law.  The directors are empowered to act on behalf  of  the  
Company  and  in  this  respect  have  the  authority  to  enter  into  contracts  and  sue  and  be  sued  in representation of the 
Company.  In terms of the Memorandum and Articles of Association they may do all such things that are not by the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association reserved for the Company in general meeting.

By virtue of a resolution of the shareholders dated 12 June 2012, the Company’s authorised share capital was increased to fifty 
million (50,000,000) ordinary shares of €0.20 each.

By virtue of extraordinary resolution of the shareholders dated 2 May 2008, the Board of Directors is authorised to issue any 
share capital of the Company which is unissued, which authority is valid for a maximum period of five (5) years, renewable for 
further periods of five (5) years each. As at 31 December 2013, the Company had seven million, five hundred thousand and 
forty-four (7,500,044) in unissued share capital.

Rule 5.64.11 – Agreements with employees

The Company has agreements with employees holding senior management positions providing for compensation upon 
termination based on the then applicable annual salary.

Other disclosures pursuant to Rule 5.64

No disclosures are  being made pursuant to Rules 5.64.2, 5.64.4, 5.64.6, 5.64.10 as these are not applicable to the Company.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 22 April 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

Mario Schembri	R adi Abd El Haj
Chairman	Di rector

Registered Office

RS2 Buildings
Fort Road
Mosta MST 1859

directors’ report (continued) 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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Pursuant to the Malta Financial Services Authority Listing Rules 5.94 and 5.97, RS2 Software p.l.c. (“the Company”) is hereby 
presenting a statement of compliance with the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (“the Principles”) or (“the 
Code”) for the year ended 31 December 2013, which details the extent to which the Principles have been adopted, as well as 
the effective measures taken by the Company to ensure compliance with these Principles.

Good corporate governance is the responsibility of the Board of Directors (“the Board”), which therefore adopts the Principles  
and endorses them accordingly. The Board believes that adoption  of  the  Principles is  evidence  of  the Company’s commitment 
to a more transparent governance structure in the best interest of its shareholders and the market as a whole.

As demonstrated by the information set out on this statement, together with the information contained in the Remuneration 
Report, the Company believes that it has, save as indicated in the section entitled “Non-Compliance with the Code”, throughout 
the accounting  period under review, applied the Principles  and complied with the provision of the Code. In the Non-Compliance 
section, the Board indicates and explains the instances where it has departed from or where it has not applied the Code, as 
allowed by the Code.

Part 1: Compliance with the Code

Principle One: The Board

The Board is composed of one executive director and five non-executive directors.

All  the  directors,  individually  and  collectively,  are  of  the  appropriate  calibre  with  the  necessary  skills,  diversity  of knowledge 
and experience to assist them in providing leadership, integrity and judgement in directing the Company.

The Board is entrusted with establishing the long-term strategy, objectives and policies of the Company and ensuring that these 
are pursued within the parameters of the relevant laws and regulations and best business practices.

Further detail in relation to the Committees and the responsibilities of the Board may be found in Principle four of this statement.

Principle Two: Chairman and Chief Executive

In line with the Principles, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are kept separate. The Company adopts a 
structure of clear division of responsibilities between the running of the Board and the management of the Company’s business.

The Chairman is responsible to lead and set the agenda of the Board. The Chairman ensures that the Board’s members are all 
actively engaged in discussions and receive precise, timely and objective information so that the directors can take judicious 
and rigorous decisions to be able to effectively monitor the performance of the Company. The Chairman is also responsible for 
communicating with shareholders. During 2013, the position of Chairman was occupied by Mr Mario Schembri.

The delegation of specific responsibilities to appropriate Committees, namely the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee is taken care of by the Chairman of the Board.

On the other hand, the Chief Executive Officer takes care of the day to day running of the Company’s business. During 2013, 
the position was occupied by Mr Radi Abd El Haj.

Principle Three: Composition of the Board

The number of directors shall be not less than three (3) and not more than seven (7) individuals. This range provides diversity of 
thought and experience without hindering effective discussion or diminishing individual accountability. Members of the senior 
management also attend meetings, albeit without a vote, at the request of the Board, as and when necessary.

The Board is currently composed of one executive director (Chief Executive Officer) and five independent non-executive directors, 
of whom one is the Chairman. In determining the independence or otherwise of its directors, the Board has considered, 
amongst others, the Principles relating to independence contained in the Code, the Company’s own practice as well as general 
good practice.

corporate governance statement of compliance
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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The Board has taken the view that the business relationship existing between the Company and one of its directors Dr Robert 
Tufigno is not significant and thus does not undermine the said director’s ability to consider appropriately the issues which are 
brought before the Board. Apart from possessing valuable experience, the Board feels that the director in question is able to 
exercise independent judgment and is free from any relationship which can hinder his objectivity.

The appointment of directors to the Board is reserved exclusively to the Company’s shareholders, except in so far as an 
appointment may be made to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or to comply with the provision of the Listing Rules, relating to 
the members of the Audit Committee. Prior to being appointed as directors, nominees undergo a due diligence process by the 
Company, to establish that they are fit and proper persons.

Principle Four: The Responsibilities of the Board

The Board has the first level responsibility of executing the four basic roles of corporate governance namely accountability, monitoring, 
strategy formulation and policy development.

The Board regularly reviews and evaluates corporate strategy, major operational and financial plans, risk policy and the 
performance of the Company. The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved for it to discuss and includes a review 
of the management’s implementation of corporate strategy and corporate objectives, assessment of the Company’s present 
and future operations, opportunities, risks and threats emanating from the external environment as well as current and future 
strengths and weaknesses.

Board Committees

The Board has established the following Committees: Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference, which have been approved by the Listing Authority, are modelled on the provisions 
of the Listing Rules, primarily to monitor the financial reporting process and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
procedures. Whilst the Committee vets and approves related party transactions, it also considers the materiality and the nature 
of related party transactions to ensure that the arm’s length principle is adhered to.

The Committee is responsible for managing the Board’s relationship with the external auditors, for monitoring the audit of 
the annual and consolidated accounts, making recommendations to the Board on their appointment and monitoring their 
independence, especially with respect to non-audit services.

Mr Maurice Xuereb, a non-executive director, acts as Chairman, whilst Dr Robert Tufigno and Mr Franco Azzopardi act as 
members.  The Company Secretary, Dr Ivan Gatt acts as secretary to the Committee. Mr Franco Azzopardi is a qualified 
accountant and auditor who the Board considers as the person independent and competent in accounting.

The members of the Audit Committee are free from any business, family or other relationship with the Company, its controlling 
shareholder and the management of either.  Dr Robert Tufigno is a partner in GTG Advocates (legal advisors to the Company), 
however such relationship is not considered to create a conflict of interest such as to jeopardise exercise of his free judgement.

The executive directors, members of senior management and the external auditors are invited to attend meetings at the request 
of the Committee, as and when required.

	 Meetings held: 9
	 Attended

Mr Maurice Xuereb	 9
Dr Robert Tufigno	 9
Mr Franco Azzopardi	 8

corporate governance statement of compliance (continued)
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Principle Five: Board Meetings

Meetings of the Board are held as frequently as necessary and are notified by the Company Secretary with appropriate notice 
before the meeting.  Each agenda for the forthcoming meeting is accompanied by such papers and documents as are necessary 
to make directors informed of the issues to be discussed and in particular the decisions they are expected to take.  Meetings 
may also include presentations by management, whilst other information and documentation is made available for perusal by 
the directors, at their request.  After each Board meeting and before the next, minutes that faithfully record attendance and 
decisions are circulated to all directors. Members of senior management attend meetings at the request of the Board, as and 
when necessary.

The Board meetings were attended as follows:
	 Meetings held: 8
	 Attended
Executive Directors
Mr Radi Abd El Haj – Chief Executive Officer	 7

Non-executive Directors
Mr Mario Schembri – Chairman	 8
Mr Maurice Xuereb	 8
Dr Robert Tufigno	 8
Mr Franco Azzopardi	 7
Mr. Christopher Wood	 0* (out of 1)

*Mr Wood was appointed on 4 of October 2013.

Principle Six: Information and professional development

The Chief Executive Officer is appointed by the Board and enjoys the full confidence of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer, 
although responsible for the recruitment and selection of senior management, consults with the Remuneration Committee and 
the Board on the appointment of, and on a succession plan for senior management.

As part of the Company’s succession planning, the Board implements appropriate schemes to recruit, motivate and retain 
highly qualified individuals by creating the right environment and opportunities to move forward within the organisation.

On the appointment of a new director, he is provided with briefings by the Chief Executive Officer and the other Chief Officers 
on the activities of their respective business area. Ongoing-training of directors, management and employees is seen as very 
important.

The directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and supporting legal advice and are entitled, as 
members of the Board, to take independent professional advice on any matter relating to their duties, at the Company’s expense.

The directors are fully aware of their responsibility to act always in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a 
whole irrespective of whoever appointed them to the Board.

Principle Seven: Evaluation of the Board

During the year under review, the Board undertook an evaluation of its own performance. The Board appointed a sub-committee, 
comprised of Dr Robert Tufigno and Franco Azzopardi to carry out the performance evaluation. The evaluation exercise was 
conducted through a Board effectiveness questionnaire. The results were communicated to the Chairman and then discussed 
at board level and there were no material changes in the company’s governance structures and organisation to report.

Principle Eight: Committees

The Remuneration Committee is dealt with under a separate section in the Annual Report entitled “Remuneration Report” which 
can be found on page 30. This section also includes a “Remuneration Statement” which deals with the remuneration of directors 
and senior management.

corporate governance statement of compliance (continued)
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Principle Nine and Ten: Relations with Shareholders and with Market, and Institution Shareholders
 
The Company is highly committed to having an open and communicative relationship with its shareholders and investors. 
At the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM), the Board ensures that information is communicated to the shareholders 
in a transparent and accountable manner. The ordinary business at the AGM is to consider the financial statements of the 
Company, the directors’ and auditors’ report for the period, to approve any dividend recommendation by the directors, to elect 
the directors and to appoint the auditors.  The Chairman ensures that all directors of the Board who include the chairmen of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees are available at the AGM in order to answer questions.

The Board also considers the annual report to be an effective document which, in addition to statutory disclosures, contains 
detailed information about the Company and its performance. At the time of the AGM or whenever there are any significant 
events affecting the Company, meetings are held with institutional investors, financial intermediaries and stockbrokers.

The Board recognises the importance of providing the market with regular, timely accurate, comprehensive and comparable 
information in sufficient detail to enable investors to make informed decisions.  Periodic company announcements are issued 
in accordance with the Listing Rules to maintain a fair and informed market in the Company’s equity securities. The Board 
discharges its obligations under the Memorandum and Articles of Association, legislation, rules and regulations by having in 
place formal procedures for dealing with potentially price-sensitive information and ensuring the proper conduct of its officers 
and staff in this regard.  These procedures are incorporated in an Internal Code of Dealing which is drawn up in accordance with 
the requirements of the Listing Rules and which applies to all directors and key employees of the Company.

The Board believes that shareholders should have an opportunity to send communications to the Board. Any communication 
from a shareholder to the Board generally or a particular director should be in writing, signed, contain the number of shares held 
in the sender’s name and should be delivered to the attention of the Company Secretary at the principal offices of the Company.

Any two Members of the Company holding at least five per cent (5%) of the shares conferring a right to attend and vote at 
general meetings of the Company, may convene an extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the provisions of
the Articles of Association.

The Company’s presence is also on the worldwide web through its website at www.rs2.com, which contains information and 
news about the Company, its products, developments and activities, as well as an investors’ section.

Principle Eleven: Conflicts of Interest

The directors are strongly aware of their responsibility to act at all times in the interest of the Company and its shareholders as 
a whole and of their obligation to avoid conflicts of interest, irrespective of whoever appointed them to the Board.

The Board has approved an Internal Code of Dealing that details the obligations of the directors, as well as those of senior 
management and other individuals having access to sensitive information, on dealings in the equity of the Company within the 
parameters of the law and the Principles.

Each director has declared his interest in the share capital of the Company distinguishing between beneficial and non-beneficial 
interest.

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company, any actual, potential or perceived conflict of 
interest must be immediately declared by a director to the other members of the Board, who then (also possibly through a 
referral to the Audit Committee) decide on whether such a conflict exists. In the event that the Board perceives such interest to 
be conflicting with the director’s duties, the conflicted director is required to leave the meeting and both the discussion on the 
matter and the vote, if any, on the matter concerned are conducted in the absence of the conflicted director.

Principle Twelve: Corporate Social Responsibility

The Company understands that it has an obligation towards society at large to put into practice sound principles of Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR). It is therefore committed to embark on initiatives which support the community, the environment, 
as well as sports and the arts.
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The Company recognises the importance of good CSR principles in its dealings with its employees. In this regard, it actively 
encourages open communication, teamwork, training and personal development, whilst creating opportunities based on 
performance, creativity and initiative. The Company is committed towards social investment and the quality of life of its work 
force and their families, and of the local community in which it operates.

Part 2: Non-Compliance with the Code

Principle Two : Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision 2.3 states that the Chairman should be independent. Mr Mario Schembri currently holds the position of Chairman, 
he cannot be deemed independent due to his involvement held in the Company.

Principle Four : The Responsibilities of the Board

Principle 4.2.7: The Code recommends the development of a succession policy for the future composition of the Board of 
Directors. The Company does not consider this principle to be applicable to it on the basis that appointment of directors is a 
matter which is reserved exclusively to the Company’s shareholders (except as specified herein).

Principle Eight B: Nomination Committee

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company regulates the appointment of directors.  Article 55.1 of the 
Articles of Association provides that a member holding not less than 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company having 
voting rights or a number of members who in the aggregate hold not less than 0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company 
having voting rights shall be entitled to nominate fit and proper persons for appointment as directors of the Company.  In 
addition, the directors themselves or a committee appointed for the purpose by the Board may make recommendations and 
nominations to the shareholders for the appointment of directors at the next Annual General Meeting.

Within this context, the Board believes that the setting up of a Nomination Committee is currently not suited to the Company 
since it will not be able to undertake satisfactorily its full functions and responsibilities as envisaged by the spirit of the Code. 
Notwithstanding this, the Board will retain under review the issue relating to the setting up of a Nomination Committee.

Principle Nine (Code provision 9.3): Relations with shareholders and with the market.

The Company firmly believes that shareholder participation is an essential precondition for effective corporate governance.

The Company has fully implemented the Shareholders Rights Directive (Directive 2007/36/EC) as transposed in Maltese Law 
and to this regard has introduced a number of measures aimed at facilitating the exercise of shareholders rights and protecting 
the shareholders’ interests.

The measures currently available for shareholders notably the right to put items on the agenda of the annual general meeting 
and to table draft resolutions and the right to ask questions provide the necessary safeguards for the protection of the 
shareholder’s interests. To this regard, the Company does not believe that the current corporate structure requires it to introduce 
(a) procedures to resolve conflicts between minority shareholders and controlling shareholders and/or (b) the possibility for 
minority shareholders to formally present an issue to the Board.

Mario Schembri	R adi Abd El Haj
Chairman	Di rector

22 April 2014
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Terms of Reference and Membership

The remit of the Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) is set out in the Terms of Reference adopted by the Board of 
Directors.  The Committee is composed of Dr Robert Tufigno (Chairman), Mr Maurice Xuereb, Mr Franco Azzopardi and Mr 
Mario Schembri.  The Chief Executive Officer is invited to attend meetings of the Committee where appropriate.

Meetings

The Committee held 3 meetings during the period under review. The Committee determined and/or made recommendations 
to the Board on the following matters:

1. 	 Employee Share Option Scheme during 2013;
2. 	 Structure of CEO, management and directors’ salaries for financial year 2013 and 2014.

										    Meetings held: 3
										    Attended

Mr Maurice Xuereb                                                                          	3
Dr Robert Tufigno                                                                            	3
Mr Franco Azzopardi                                                                      	3
Mr Mario Schembri                                                                         	2

Remuneration Statement

Remuneration Policy - Directors

The determination of the remuneration arrangements for Board members is determined by the Committee. The Remuneration  
Committee  is  primarily  responsible  for  devising  appropriate  packages  needed  to  attract,  retain  and motivate executive 
directors with the right qualities and skills for the proper management of the Company and for ensuring compliance with the 
relevant provisions and regulations of good corporate governance on remuneration and related matters.

Remuneration Statement – Senior Management

The Committee also makes recommendations on the remuneration of senior management.  In making such recommendations, 
it considers that members of the senior management of the Company are provided with appropriate incentives to encourage 
enhanced performance and are, in a fair and responsible manner, rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of 
the Company. There have been no significant changes in the Company’s remuneration policy during the financial year under 
review and no significant changes are intended to be effected during 2014.

In addition, the Committee is responsible for authorising all remuneration arrangements involving share options. During the year 
under review, the Committee allocated share options to senior management personnel, in accordance with the RS2 Employees 
Share Options Scheme. 35,325 options were granted in full on 11 November 2013. There were 25,165 share options outstanding 
at 31 December 2013.

In case of the CEO and the Chief Officers, the Committee is of the view that the link between fixed remuneration and performance 
is reasonable and appropriate.

Non-cash benefits to which CEO and Chief Officers are entitled for; the use of a company car, rental of residential property and 
health insurance. The death-in-service benefit also forms part of the contract of employment of senior management personnel 
on the same terms applicable to all other Company employees.

The Company has agreements with employees holding senior management positions providing for compensation upon 
termination based on the then applicable annual salary.

remuneration committee report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013



ANNUAL REPORT & FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013 31

Code Provision 8.A.5

Directors

For the financial period under review, the aggregate remuneration of the directors of the Group and the Company was as follows:

Fixed Remuneration	 €77,000
Variable Remuneration	 €185,000
Fixed remuneration as full time employees of the company	 €488,325
Others	 Nil

Senior Management personnel

For the financial period under review, the aggregate remuneration of the senior management personnel of the Group and the 
Company was as follows:

Fixed Remuneration	 €956,345
Variable Remuneration	 €245,000
Share Options	 €7,065
Others	 Nil

Dr Robert Tufigno
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

22 April 2014
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We, the undersigned declare that to the best of our knowledge, the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 88 are prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and that the Directors’ Report includes a fair 
view of the performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face.

Signed on behalf of the Board of directors on 22 April 2014 by:

Mario Schembri	R adi Abd El Haj
Chairman	Di rector

statement of the directors pursuant to listing rule 5.55.2
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Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (the “Act”) requires the directors of RS2 Software p.l.c. (the “Company”) to 
prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company 
and the Group as at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that period in 
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, 
the financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors, through oversight of management, are responsible to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains internal 
control to provide reasonable assurance with regards to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations 
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Management is responsible, with oversight from the directors, to establish a control environment and maintain policies and 
procedures to assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and efficient conduct of the Group’s 
business.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining controls pertaining to the Group’s objective of preparing 
financial statements as required by the Act and managing risks that may give rise to material misstatements in those financial 
statements. In determining which controls to implement to prevent and detect fraud, management considers the risks that the 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

Signed on behalf of the Board of directors by:

Mario Schembri	R adi Abd El Haj
Chairman	Di rector

directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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statements of financial position
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

Note € € € €

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 13              7,735,414              7,305,188              7,357,640              7,282,356 

Intangible assets 14              7,657,368              8,336,856              6,301,955              6,920,114 

Deferred tax assets 15                -                 261,896       -                 261,896 

Investments in subsidiaries 16            -                     -                 758,942                 758,942 

Other investments 17                 218,978                 218,978                 218,978                 218,978 

Amount receivable from related parties 18                 422,129                 652,630              1,565,268                 652,630 

Accrued income 19              2,968,688                  -              5,168,688              2,060,000 

Trade receivables 18                 647,220 -                 647,220 -

Total non-current assets           19,649,797           16,775,548           22,018,691           18,154,916 

Trade and other receivables 18              2,806,491              3,342,056              2,617,669              3,339,195 

Loans and receivables from related parties 18                 941,701              1,333,494              2,458,276              2,400,103 

Prepayments                 283,533                 176,089                 238,576                 171,467 

Accrued income 19              2,985,070              4,690,851              2,944,097              4,690,851 

Other investments 17               -                 555,173            -                 555,173 

Cash at bank and in hand 20              3,643,250                 916,202              3,264,175                 892,219 

Total current assets           10,660,045           11,013,865           11,522,793           12,049,008 

Total assets           30,309,842           27,789,413           33,541,484           30,203,924 

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mario Schembri	R adi Abd El Haj
Chairman	Di rector
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The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

Note € € € €

Equity

Share capital 21              8,499,991              7,999,991              8,499,991              7,999,991 

Reserves 21              2,227,075              2,408,404              2,227,438              2,382,940 

Retained earnings 21           10,757,376              8,787,043           13,743,043           11,303,693 

Total equity attributable to 
  equity holders of the Company           21,484,442           19,195,438           24,470,472           21,686,624 

Non-controlling interest               (112,281)                  (43,250)                           -                            - 

Total equity           21,372,161           19,152,188           24,470,472           21,686,624 

Liabilities

Bank borrowings 23              3,154,238              4,241,047              3,154,238              4,241,047 

Deferred tax liability 15              1,089,455                             -              1,358,499                             - 

Derivatives 23                 149,263                 223,236                 149,263                 223,236 

Total non-current liabilities              4,392,956              4,464,283              4,662,000              4,464,283 

Bank borrowings 23              1,022,180                 919,947              1,022,180                 919,947 

Trade and other payables 24                 945,664              1,277,982                 821,180              1,036,277 

Accruals 25                 762,572                 591,861                 757,239                 713,637 

Deferred income 25              1,814,309              1,383,152              1,808,413              1,383,156 

Total current liabilities              4,544,725              4,172,942              4,409,012              4,053,017 

Total liabilities              8,937,681              8,637,225              9,071,012              8,517,300

Total equity and liabilities           30,309,842           27,789,413           33,541,484           30,203,924 

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Mario Schembri	R adi Abd El Haj
Chairman	Di rector

statements of financial position (continued)
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statements of changes in equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013

THE GROUP Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital

Share
premium

Translation
reserve

Fair value
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Share
option 

reserve

Retained
earnings Total 

 Non
controlling 

interest 

Total
equity

€ € € € € € € € € €

Balance at 1 January 2012 7,500,000    2,792,734        44,940         27,900        872,641         28,840     5,430,753  16,697,808         76,878   16,774,686 

Comprehensive income for               
  the year
Profit for the year - -  -                -  -                  -       2,476,249  2,476,249 (129,921)  2,346,328 

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation 
  differences - -       (3,652)                 -   -                  -                 -  (3,652)          9,793        6,141 

Net change in fair value of  
  available-for-sale financial assets  
  transferred to profit or loss 

- -                 -       (6,713)       -                  -                   -  (6,713)                  -       (6,713) 

Total other comprehensive          
  income for the year - -       (3,652)       (6,713) -                  -   - (10,365)          9,793 (572) 

Total comprehensive income  
  for the year - -        (3,652)       (6,713)            -                  -   2,476,249   2,465,884  (120,128)  2,345,756 

Transactions with owners 
  of the Company
Bonus issue 499,991   (499,991) -                 -        -                  -    -   - -  - 

Transfer to retained earnings:  
  Unrealised gains - - -                 -     (864,217)       -    864,217      - - - 

Equity settled share-based  
  payments - - - - - 31,746 - 31,746 - 31,746

Transfer of translation reserve  
  upon disposal of subsidiary - -       (15,824)                 -               -                  -   15,824            - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2012 7,999,991 2,292,743   25,464       21,187         8,424       60,586  8,787,043 19,195,438     (43,250) 19,152,188 

Balance at 1 January 2013 7,999,991 2,292,743        25,464         21,187         8,424      60,586  8,787,043 19,195,438 (43,250) 19,152,188 

Comprehensive income for 
the year
Profit for the year - - -                  -                  -                  -    2,928,593 2,928,593       (73,701) 2,854,892 

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation 
  differences - -       (25,827)                 -        -                  -   - (25,827)          4,670      (21,157) 

Net changes in fair value of  
  available-for-sale financial assets - - -    (21,187)                 -                  -   - (21,187)                  -        (21,187) 

Total other comprehensive  
  income for the year - -       (25,827)    (21,187)                 -                  -   - (47,014)          4,670 (42,344) 

Total comprehensive income for 
  the year - -       (25,827)    (21,187)                 -                  -   2,928,593 2,881,579     (69,031)   2,812,548 

Transactions with owners 
   of the Company
Bonus issue 500,000   (500,000) - - -                  -   - -                  -   - 
Dividend to equity holders - - - - -                  -   (1,000,000) (1,000,000)                  -   (1,000,000) 
Transfer to retained earnings:  
  Unrealised gains - - -                 - (8,424) - 8,424 -                  -   -

Share options exercised - - - - - (33,316) 33,316 - - -
Equity settled share-based  
  payments - - -                 - - 407,425 - 407,425                  -   407,425

Balance at 31 December 2013     8,499,991    1,792,743 (363)                  -   - 434,695 10,757,376 21,484,442     (112,281)   21,372,161

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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statements of changes in equity (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013

THE COMPANY

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Fair value  
reserve

Statutory  
reserve

Share option 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

€ € € € € € €

Balance at 1 January 2012   7,500,000     2,792,734 27,900        872,641       28,840 5,591,127 16,813,242 

             

Comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - - - -                 - 4,848,349 4,848,349 

           

Other comprehensive income

Net changes in fair value of  
  available-for-sale financial assets - (6,713) -                 - - (6,713)

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - (6,713) -                 - - (6,713)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (6,713) -                 - 4,848,349 4,841,636 

Transactions with owners of the Company

Bonus issue 499,991      (499,991) - -                 - - -

Transfer to retained earnings: 

  Unrealised gains - - -    (864,217)       - 864,217 -

Equity settled share-based payments - - - - 31,746 - 31,746

Balance at 31 December 2012      7,999,991     2,292,743 21,187             8,424       60,586 11,303,693 21,686,624 

Balance at 1 January 2013 7,999,991     2,292,743 21,187 8,424       60,586 11,303,693 21,686,624 

Comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - - - -                 - 3,397,610 3,397,610 

Other comprehensive income

Net changes in fair value of
  available-for-sale financial assets - - (21,187) -                 - - (21,187)

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - (21,187) -                 - - (21,187)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (21,187) -                 - 3,397,610 3,376,423

Transactions with owners of the Company

Bonus issue 500,000 (500,000) - -                 - - -

Dividend to equity holders - - - -                 - (1,000,000) (1,000,000)

Transfer to retained earnings:  
  Unrealised gains - - -          (8,424) - 8,424 -

Share options exercised - - - -    (33,316) 33,316 -

Equity settled share-based payments - - - - 407,425 - 407,425

Balance at 31 December 2013 8,499,991     1,792,743 - -     434,695 13,743,043 24,470,472

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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statements of comprehensive income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note € € € €

Continuing Operations

Revenue 8  14,130,264   10,642,419 13,484,895 12,702,419 

Cost of sales  (7,384,566)   (5,765,198) (6,424,021) (5,450,051)

Gross profit 6,745,698     4,877,221  7,060,874 7,252,368 

Other income 9 14,341       88,460 14,341 78,462 

Marketing and promotional expenses (488,636)         (530,321)  (331,261) (468,425)

Administrative expenses  (2,214,698)  (1,440,533) (1,909,285) (1,335,444)

Capitalised development costs 14       377,807 426,288 377,807 426,288 

Other expenses 9      (102,298)         (192,528) (109,539) (195,202)

Results from operating activities     4,332,214      3,228,587 5,102,937 5,758,047 

Finance income 11 156,582        180,107 195,233 150,990 

Finance costs 11 (233,173)     (258,860) (230,828) (257,185)

Net finance costs     (76,591)    (78,753) (35,595) (106,195) 

Profit before income tax 9    4,255,623   3,149,834 5,067,342 5,651,852 

Income tax expense 12 (1,400,731)  (803,506) (1,669,732) (803,503)

Profit for the year    2,854,892 2,346,328 3,397,610 4,848,349 

Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or  
  loss
Foreign currency translation differences on foreign  
  operations (21,157) 6,141 - - 

Net changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial  
  assets                (21,187) (6,713) (21,187) (6,713)

Total comprehensive income 2,812,548 2,345,756 3,376,423 4,841,636 

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 2,928,593 2,476,249 3,397,610 4,848,349 

Non-controlling interest (73,701) (129,921) - - 

Profit for the year 2,854,892             2,346,328 3,397,610            4,848,349 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 2,881,579 2,465,884 3,376,423 4,841,636 

Non-controlling interest (69,031) (120,128) - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,812,548 2,345,756 3,376,423 4,841,636 

Earnings per share € 0.069 € 0.058 € 0.080 € 0.114

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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statements of cash flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013

    The Group   The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note € € € €

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 2,854,892 2,346,328 3,397,610 4,848,349

Adjustments for:

  Depreciation 13 425,279 290,060 295,459 270,497 

  Amortisation of intangible assets 14 995,965 969,885 995,965 969,885 

  Capitalised development costs 14 (377,807) (426,288) (377,807) (426,288)

  Provision for impairment loss on receivables (11,819) 150,868 (11,819) 150,868 

  Interest payable 232,958 146,844 230,615 145,211 

  Interest receivable (34,377) (64,240) (73,317) (80,538)

  Gain on disposal of fair value of financial asset (39,968) - (39,968) - 

  Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment - (118,205) - (72,780)

  Income tax 12 1,400,731 803,506 1,669,732 803,503 

  Provision for exchange fluctuations 74,170 80,412 74,171 83,086 

  Fair value of share option 407,425 31,746 407,425 31,746 

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedge (73,973) 72,099 (73,973) 72,099 

5,853,476 4,283,015 6,494,093 6,795,638 
Changes in trade and other receivables (1,576,072) (3,510,248) (1,582,316) (5,572,906)

Changes in trade and other payables 150,073 373,799 158,519 324,002 

Changes in parent company’s balance (11,145) (1,211) (11,145) (1,211)

Cash generated from operating activities 4,416,332 1,145,355 5,059,151 1,545,523 

Interest paid (212,401) (145,211) (212,401) (145,211)

Interest received 70,775 39,760 93,728 39,748 

Income taxes paid (15,934) (5,482) (15,934) (5,479)

Net cash from operating activities 4,258,772 1,034,422 4,924,544 1,434,581 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (812,250) (2,177,354) (327,463) (2,142,790)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment - 9,500 - 9,500 

Investment in subsidiaries - - - (1,200)

Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 573,953 1,499,895 573,953 1,499,895 

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets - (1,001,850) - (1,001,850)

Advances to subsidiaries - - (1,498,172) (401,498)

Repayment of advances to subsidiaries - - 18,236 - 

Repayment of advances to other related parties 65,935 - 65,935 -

Net cash used in investing activities (172,362) (1,669,809) (1,167,511) (2,037,943)

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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    The Group   The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Note € € € €

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (408,479) - (408,479) - 

Proceeds from bank borrowings - 843,065 - 843,065 

Repayments of bank borrowings (984,576) (936,948) (984,576) (936,948)

Repayments of finance lease - - - - 

Advances by non-controlling interest 25,839 35,498 - - 

Net cash used in financing activities (1,367,216) (58,385) (1,393,055) (93,883)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,719,194 (693,772) 2,363,978 (697,245)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 908,041 1,658,156 884,058 1,620,177 

Decrease in cash due to sale of subsidiary -   (18,767) -   -   

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 7,852 (37,454) 7,976 (38,752)

Movement in cash pledged as guarantee (121) (122) (121) (122)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20 3,634,966 908,041 3,255,891 884,058 

The Notes on pages 42 to 88 are an integral part of these financial statements.

statements of cash flows (continued)
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1	R eporting entity

	 RS2 Software p.l.c. (the “Company”) is a public limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Malta. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”).  

 
2	 Basis of preparation 

2.1	S tatement of compliance	
 
	 The consolidated and separate financial statements (the “financial statements”) have been prepared and presented in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (“the applicable framework”). All 
references in these financial statements to IAS, IFRS or  SIC / IFRIC interpretations refer to those adopted by the EU.  
These financial statements have also been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1995 
(Chapter 386, Laws of Malta), (the “Act”) to the extent that such provisions do not conflict with the applicable framework.

 
2.2	 Basis of measurement	
 
	 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the 

statement of  financial  position;

	 -	 available-for-sale financial asset
	 -	 derivative financial instruments
	 -	 share-based payment transactions
 
	 The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 5.
 
2.3	F unctional and presentation currency
 
	 These financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
 
2.4	U se of estimates and judgements
 
	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

		
	 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

	 Information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

 
	 Note 2.4.1 - impairment reviews
	 Note 14.4 - impairment testing for cash - generating unit containing goodwill

notes to the financial statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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2	 Basis of preparation (CONTINUED)

2.4	U se of estimates and judgements (continued)

2.4.1 	I mpairment reviews
 
          	The determination of the recoverable amount involves significant management judgement.  In most cases this involves 

an assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported by the present value of future cash flows 
derived from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate.  In calculating 
the present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of highly uncertain 
matters, as noted below.

 
	 With respect to goodwill, IFRS require management to undertake a test for impairment at least annually and at each 

reporting period if there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. The Group currently undertakes an annual 
impairment test covering goodwill and also reviews other certain financial and non-financial assets at least annually to 
consider whether a full impairment review is required.

 
	 There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved in calculating the present value of future cash flows from the 

Group’s businesses, including management’s expectations of:

	 - 	 growth in EBITDA, calculated as adjusted operating profit or loss before depreciation and amortisation;
	 - 	 timing and quantum of future capital expenditure;
	 - 	 uncertainty of future technological developments;
	 - 	 long term growth rates; and
	 - 	 the selection of discount rates to reflect the risks involved.
 
	 The selection of assumptions and estimates by management involves significant judgement and small changes in 

these assumptions could result in the determination of a recoverable amount which is materially different to the results 
obtained using the variables selected by the Company. This is particularly so in respect to the discount rate and growth 
rate assumptions used in the cash flow projections.  Changes in the assumptions used could significantly affect the 
Group’s impairment evaluation and, hence, results.

3	S ignificant accounting policies	
 
	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements 

and have been applied consistently by Group entities.
 
3.1	 Basis of consolidation

3.1.1	S ubsidiaries 
 
	 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial 

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, potential voting rights 
that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

  	 The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when 
necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a 
subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interest, even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a 
deficit balance.

  
3.1.2	T ransactions eliminated on consolidation
 
	 Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 

are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.   

notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)	

3.2	F oreign currency 
 
3.2.1	F oreign currency transactions
 
	 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on 
monetary items is the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated 
at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date 
that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.  
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

3.2.2	F oreign operations
 
	 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are 

translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the reporting date.  The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  

 
	 Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the foreign 

currency translation reserve. However, if the operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary then the relevant proportion of 
the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in 
full, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to profit or loss as part of the profit or 
loss on disposal.

 
	 When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in 

the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part 
of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented within 
equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.

3.3	F inancial instruments
 
3.3.1	N on-derivative financial assets
  
	 The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial 

assets are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

	 The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a  transaction in which substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

	
	 The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets:  loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and 

cash and cash equivalents.
 

notes to the financial statements (continued)
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)	

3.3	F inancial instruments (continued)

3.3.1.1	L oans and receivables
 
	 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  Such 

assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

 
	 Loans and receivables comprise cash and  cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.
 
	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or less.
 
3.3.1.2	A vailable-for-sale financial assets
 
	 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale and that 

are not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets or loans and 
receivables.  The Group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt 	securities are classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value, whenever this is reliably measured, 
and changes therein, other than impairment losses (see note 3.8.2) and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale 
equity instruments (see note 3.2.1), are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within equity in the 
fair value reserve. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in other comprehensive income is 
transferred to profit or loss.

3.3.2	N on-derivative financial liabilities

	 The Group initially recognises all financial liabilities, except for debt securities issued and subordinated 	liabilities, on the 
trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
 	 The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired. 
	
	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 

only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
 	 The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. 
 
 	 Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent 

to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

3.3.3	D erivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

	 The Group holds  a derivative financial  instrument to hedge its interest rate risk exposures.  
	
	 On initial designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between 

the hedge instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the 
hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the 
hedging relationship.  The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an 
on-going basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the 
cash flows of the respective hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge 
are within a range of 80% - 125%.

	
	 Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transactions are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as 
described on the following page:

notes to the financial statements (continued)
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)	

3.3	F inancial instruments (continued)

3.3.3	D erivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (continued)

3.3.3.1	C ash flow hedges

	 When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to 
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging 
reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative 	is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

 
3.3.4	S hare capital
 
	 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity (see note 21.2).
 
3.4	 Property, plant and equipment
 
3.4.1	R ecognition and measurement
 
	 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When items of property, plant 
and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

 
	 Borrowing costs related to the acquisition and construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as incurred.
 
	 Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 

from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other income” 
in profit or loss. 

 
3.4.2	S ubsequent costs
 
	 The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 

if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.4.3	D epreciation 
 
	 Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for 

cost, less its residual value.
 
	 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item 

of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. Buildings constructed on leased land are depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease 
term. Land is not depreciated.

notes to the financial statements (continued)
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.4	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

3.4.3	D epreciation (continued)

	 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period are as follows:
 
	 ∙ 	 buildings 	 50  	 years
	 ∙ 	 electrical and plumbing installation	 15  	 years 
	 ∙ 	 furniture	 10  	 years 
	 ∙ 	 fixtures	 10  	 years 
	 ∙ 	 lifts	 10  	 years
	 ∙ 	 other machinery	 10  	 years  
	 ∙ 	 air-conditioning	 6 	 years 
	 ∙ 	 motor vehicles	 5 	 years 
	 ∙ 	 computer hardware	 4 	 years 		
	 ∙ 	 computer software	 4 	 years 
	 ∙ 	 office equipment	 4 	 years 

	 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted if appropriate.
	 Items of property and equipment are depreciated from the date they are available for use.

3.5	I ntangible assets
 
3.5.1	R e-acquired rights
 
	 When as part of a business combination, the Group re-acquires a right that it had previously granted to the acquiree to 

use one or more of its recognised or unrecognised assets, an intangible asset is recognised separately from goodwill.  
The value of the re-acquired right is measured on the basis of the remaining contractual term of the related contract 
regardless of whether market participants would consider potential contractual renewals in determining its fair value. A 
settlement gain or loss is recognised by the Group when the terms of the contract giving rise to a re-acquired right are 
favourable or unfavourable relative to the terms of current market transactions for the same or similar items. 

3.5.2	G oodwill
 
	 Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess 

of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the acquiree.  When the excess is negative, it is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 
	 Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
 
3.5.3	I nternally generated computer software development 
 
	 Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and 

processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or 
process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic 	benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and 
has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. 

 
	 The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable 

to preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
	 Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses.

notes to the financial statements (continued)
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.5	I ntangible assets (continued)

3.5.4	S oftware rights
	
	 Software rights that are identifiable or arise from contractual or other legal rights are recognised as intangible assets if  

it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the 
cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

	
	 Software rights are initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, software rights are recognised at cost 

less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

3.5.5	S ubsequent expenditure
 
	 Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 

asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss  as  incurred.

3.5.6	A mortisation 
 
	 Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.
 
	 Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, 

other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use since this most closely reflects the expected patterns of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

 
	 The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

	 ∙	 internally generated computer software development	 15 years 		
	 ∙  	 software rights	 15 years 
	 ∙  	 other computer software	 4 - 15 years 

	 The amortisation method, useful life and residual value are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
 
3.6	L eased assets
 
	 Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 

finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in 
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

 
	 Leased assets from  operating leases are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.  
 
3.7	I nvestments in subsidiaries
 
	 Investments in subsidiaries are shown in the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less any impairment 

losses.
 
	 Loans advanced by the Company to its subsidiaries for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the 

foreseeable future, are treated as an extension to the Company’s net investment in those subsidiaries and included as 
part of the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries.
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.8	I mpairment 

3.8.1	I nvestments in subsidiaries 
	
	 The carrying amounts of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
 
	 The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

	 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
	 Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss 

has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.8.2	N on-derivative financial assets 
 
 	 A financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective 	evidence indicates that a 
loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

 
 	 Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a 

debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications 
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy and the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an 
investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of 
impairment.

 
 	 The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All individually significant receivables 

are assessed for specific impairment. 
 
	 An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 

its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 
interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest 
on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When an event occuring after 
the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss.

	 An unquoted equity investment that is not carried at fair value because its fair  value  cannot  be reliably measured is 
impaired if, there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred. An impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss and measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the unquoted equity investment and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed.  

 
 	 Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that has 

been recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss. The 
cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any 
principal repayment  and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit 
or loss. Changes in cumulative impairment losses attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest 
income.
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.8	I mpairment (continued)

3.8.2	N on-derivative financial assets (continued) 

  	 If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in 	profit or loss, then the impairment 
loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the 
fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

3.8.3	N on-financial assets 
 
 	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is 
estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

	
	 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 

sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of 
assets (the “cash-generating unit, or CGU”). Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill 
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment 
is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 
	 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to 

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 
assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 

	
	 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in 

prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.9	S hort-term employee benefits 
 
	 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 

service is provided.
 
	 The Group contributes towards the respective State pension defined contribution plan in accordance with local legislation, 

and to which, it has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions. Obligations for contributions to the 
defined contribution plan are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.10	S hare-based payment transactions
		   	
	 The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee  expense, 

with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service 
and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an 
expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related services and non-market performance conditions at 
the vesting date.

notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013



52

3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.11	 Provisions
 
	 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 

be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of  money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of discount is recognised 
as finance cost.

 
3.12	W arranties 
 
	 A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based on 

historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.
 
3.13	R evenue
 
3.13.1	L icences
 
	 Licence fees arise from software licence agreements where the Group grants non-exclusive, perpetual licences to 

use specific BankWORKS®  modules, against a one-time licence fee. Revenue from licensing of BankWORKS®  is 
measured at the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is generally recognised when 	the software is delivered, 
persuasive evidence exists usually in the form of a software licence agreement, it is probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Delivery 
of the software is considered to have occurred when the customer either takes possession of the software, or has the 
ability or right to do so. 

	  
	 For subscription license arrangements, also referred to as ‘Comprehensive Packages’, where the Company sells to 

customers the rights to BankWORKS®  modules including also unspecified products as well as unspecified upgrades 
and enhancements during a specified term, the licence revenue is recognised rateably over the term of the arrangement. 
The persuasive evidence of these arrangements is in the form of written agreements (see also accounting policy 3.13.4).

3.13.2	M aintenance
 
	 Maintenance consists of upgrades, enhancements, corrections and on-going support for BankWORKS® , as well as 

updates mandated by international card organisations. Maintenance is agreed to in the form of agreements and billed 
quarterly or annually in advance.  Revenue from maintenance is recognised on a pro-rata basis with reference to the 
period to which it relates.  

3.13.3	S ervices 
	
	 Professional services are provided to assist customers with the initial implementation of  BankWORKS®  and include other 

services requested by customers. Such services may include system implementation and integration, customisations, 
configurations, certification with international card organisations, project management, change requests, remote and 
on-site support, and user training. 

 
	 Revenue from services rendered is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion of the agreed services at the 

reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work 	performed.

3.13.4	C omprehensive packages 
 
	 Comprehensive package agreements are contracted for a fixed term and grant to customers the right to use 

BankWORKS®  modules, including unspecified modules that may be made available, initial implementation services, as 
well as unspecified upgrades and enhancements during the term of the agreement.  
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.13	R evenue (continued)

3.13.4	C omprehensive packages (continued)

	 Revenue from comprehensive package agreements is recognised rateably over the term of the agreement unless revenue 
arising from separately identifiable deliverables can be measured reliably to reflect the substance of the transactions. 
Where separable deliverables can be identified, revenue is recognised upon satisfaction of the criteria for recognition 
of these deliverables and presented in accordance with the respective categories as described in accounting policies 
3.13.1 to 3.13.3.

3.14	L ease payments
 
	 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
	 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 

of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

3.15	F inance income and costs
 
	 Finance income comprises interest income on bank balances, loans and receivables and available-for-sale investments, 

movements in provisions for non-operating exchange gain, gains arising on disposal of avaliable-for-sale financial assets 
and finance income arising on measuring payables at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest 
income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method. 

 
	 Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, movements in provisions for non-operating exchange losses, 

finance cost arising on measuring receivables at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and loss on 
hedging instruments recognised in profit or loss.

 
	 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of qualifying assets are recognised 

in profit or loss using the effective interest  rate method.
 
	 Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

3.16	I ncome tax
 
	 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

 
	 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 

or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
 
	 Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 

financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the 
extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for 
taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
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3	S ignificant accounting policies (CONTINUED)

3.16	I ncome tax (continued)

	 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised  simultaneously.

	
	 A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.

3.17	E arnings per share
 
	 The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the 

profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. 

 
3.18	S egment reporting
 
	 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 

and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. 
Operating results of all operating segments are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available.

 

4	N ew standards and interpretations not yet adopted
 
	 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 

after 1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may 
be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.

 
	IFRS  10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements , IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (2011)
 
	 IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated. No material changes 

are expected to be made to the Group’s consolidated financial statements following confirmation of consolidation 
conclusion in respect of its investees.

 
	 Under IFRS 11, the structure of the joint arrangement, although still an important consideration, is no longer the main 

factor in determining the type of joint arrangement and therefore the subsequent accounting.
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4	N ew standards and interpretations not yet adopted (CONTINUED)

	IFRS  10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements , IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (2011)
	 (continued)

	 The Group’s interest in joint operation, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities, will be accounted for on the basis of the Group’s interest in those assets and liabilities.

 
∙	 The Group’s interest in joint venture, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the net assets, will 

be equity-accounted.
 
∙	 The Group has no actual or projected involvements in joint arrangements, thus it is not expected to have any impact 

on the financial statements of the Group.
 
	 IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements about an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 

joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The Group is currently 	assessing the disclosure 
requirements for interests in subsidiaries and unconsolidated structured entities in comparison with the existing 
disclosures. IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of information about the nature, risks and financial effects of these interests.

 
	 These standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with early adoption permitted.

5	D etermination of fair values 
 
	 A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial 

and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the 
Group uses observable market data whenever sufficient data is available.  

	
	 Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 

as follows.

∙	 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted)  in active markets  for identical assets or liabilities.

∙	 Level 2: inputs  other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

∙	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

	 If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the 
lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.	

5.1	I ntangible assets
 
	 The fair value of rights of use of software acquired in a business combination is estimated by reference to the fair value 

established upon acquisition of these rights by the acquiree in 2008 and to the incremental benefits expected to be 
derived by the Group.

 
5.2	I nvestments in equity and debt securities
 
	 The fair value of quoted available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at 

the reporting date, whenever this is reasonably measurable.
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5	D etermination of fair values (CONTINUED)

5.3	T rade and other receivables
 
	 The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated at the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the 

market rate of interest at the reporting date. This fair value is also determined for disclosure purposes.

5.4	N on-derivative financial liabilities
 
	 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 

interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.  

5.5	D erivative financial instruments
	
	 The fair value of the interest rate swap is based on reference to banker’s quote.

5.6	S hare-based payment transactions

	 The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. Measurement inputs 
include the share price at measurement date, the exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on an 
evaluation of the Company’s historic volatility), the life of the instrument, expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate 
(based on AAA-rated government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions 
are not taken into account in determining fair value.

 

6	F inancial risk management
 
6.1	O verview
 
	 The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
 
	 ∙ 	 credit risk
	 ∙ 	 liquidity risk
	 ∙ 	 market risk
 
	 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures 
are included throughout these financial statements.

6.2	R isk management framework
	
	 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 

framework. 
  
	 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in 
which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

 
	 The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 

policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by 
the Group.  
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6	F inancial risk management (CONTINUED)

6.3	C redit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, investment securities and 
cash held with financial institutions.

 
6.3.1	T rade and other receivables
	
	 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The 

demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers 
operate have less of an influence on credit risk.

	 62% of the Group’s revenue is attributable to sales transactions with two major customers (2012: 56% attributable to two 
major customers) as per note 7.4. The Group’s revenue is mainly generated through sales  transactions concluded with 
customers situated in Europe (2012: Europe and America). 

	 The majority of the Group’s customers have been transacting with the Group for several years, and losses have occurred 
infrequently. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are classified according to their credit characteristics, 
geographic location and ageing profile. Trade receivables relate to the Group’s customers to whom services are rendered. 

 
	 The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and 

other receivables. This allowance represents specific provisions against individual exposures.

6.3.2	I nvestments in debt securities

	 The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in Malta Government Stocks and funds managed by quality 
financial institutions, such that management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

6.3.3	C ash at bank
 
	 The Group’s cash is placed with quality financial institutions, such that management does not expect any institution to 

fail to meet repayments of amounts held in the name of the Group.

6.4	L iquidity risk
 
	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations, which are associated with its 

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset, as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation.

	
	 The Group monitors its cash flow requirements on a regular basis and ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand 

to meet expected operational expenses; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot 
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

6.5	M arket risk

	 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, namely foreign exchange rates, interest rates  and equity prices will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of  market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
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6	F inancial risk management (CONTINUED)

6.5	M arket risk (continued)

6.5.1	C urrency risk
	
	 The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the 

functional currency of the Company, the Euro (€). The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated 
is the USD and GBP.

	
	 The Group relies on natural hedges between inflows and outflows in currencies other than the Euro, and does not 

otherwise hedge against exchange gains or losses which may arise on the realisation of amounts receivable and 
settlement of amounts payable in foreign currencies.

6.5.2	I nterest rate risk
	
	 The Group’s borrowings are subject to an interest rate that varies according to revisions made to the Bank’s Lending 

Base Rate.  The Group has entered into an interest rate swap for the purpose of hedging the risk of changes in cash 
flows related to interest payments on one of its facilities.

6.6	C apital management
	
	 The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 

to sustain future development of the business.  The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group 
defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.  The Board of 	Directors also monitors the level of 
dividends to ordinary shareholders.

	
	 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. The Group is not subject to 

externally imposed capital requirements.

7	Op erating segments

	 The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which represent the Group’s business units.  The business 
units offer different services and are managed separately because they require different operating and marketing 
strategies. For each of the business units, the Group’s Board of Directors reviews internal management reports on a 
quarterly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

 
	 ∙ 	 Licensing  	  –    	 Licensing of the Group’s BankWORKS® software to banks and service providers, including  

			   maintenance and enhanced services thereto.
 
	 ∙ 	 Processing 	  –    	 Processing of payment transactions utilising the Group’s BankWORKS® software.
 
	 Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is  measured based on 

segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s 
Board of Directors. Segment profit is used to  measure performance as management believes that such information 
is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these 
industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.
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7	Op erating segments (CONTINUED)

7.1	I nformation about reportable segments

Licensing Processing Total

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € € € €

External revenues 13,131,917      10,642,419         998,770                       -       14,130,687     10,642,419 

Inter-segment revenues 352,978 2,060,000 - - 352,978 2,060,000

Segment revenues 13,484,895 12,702,419 998,770 - 14,483,665 12,702,419

Finance income 195,233            150,990                 289                        6           195,522           150,996 

Finance expense  (230,828)            (257,227)          (41,286)              (18,112)           (272,114)           (275,339) 

Depreciation and amortisation (1,291,424)        (1,249,139)        (239,820)              (10,806)        (1,531,244)        (1,259,945) 

Movement in provision for impairment
  loss on receivables 11,819           (150,868)           -                       -             11,819           (150,868) 

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 
  before income tax 5,067,342        3,571,059       (781,719)         (466,804)        4,285,623        3,104,255 

Income tax credit (1,669,732)         (803,506)         269,001                       -       (1,400,731)         (803,506)

Reportable segment assets 33,541,485      29,444,983     4,761,858        3,662,397     38,303,343     33,107,380 

Capital expenditure 370,743        3,036,573         484,787                       -             855,530        3,036,573 

Reportable segment liabilities 9,071,012        8,371,980     5,025,452        3,391,834     14,096,464     11,763,814 
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7	Op erating segments (CONTINUED)

7.2	R econciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities, and other material items.

2013 2012

€ €

Reportable segment profit before income tax
Total reportable segment profit for reportable segments        4,285,623        3,104,255 

Elimination of inter-segment transactions    (30,000)                45,579 

Consolidated reportable segment profit        4,255,623        3,149,834 

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments     38,303,343     33,107,380 

Elimination of inter-segment balances     (7,993,501)     (5,317,967)

Consolidated total assets     30,309,842     27,789,413 

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments     14,096,464     11,763,814 

Elimination of inter-segment balances     (5,158,783)     (3,126,589)

Consolidated total liabilities        8,937,681        8,637,225 

Finance income
Total finance income for reportable segments           195,522           150,996 

Elimination of inter-segment transactions           (38,940)              29,111 

Consolidated finance income           156,582           180,107 

Finance expense
Total finance expense for reportable segments           272,114           275,339 

Elimination of inter-segment transactions           (38,941)           (16,479)

Consolidated finance expense           233,173           258,860 

Revenues
Total revenue for reportable segments     14,483,665     12,702,419 

Elimination of inter-segment transactions         (353,401)     (2,060,000)

Consolidated revenue     14,130,264     10,642,419 
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7	Op erating segments (continued)

7.3	G eographical information

	 In presenting information for the Group on the basis of geographical segments, revenue is based on the geographical 
location of customers.  Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenues Non-current 
assets

€ €

31 December 2013

Malta           320,864     14,037,064 

UK        6,425,980                 -   

Ireland        2,342,941                       -   

Other countries        5,040,479        1,355,718 

    14,130,264     15,392,782 

31 December 2012

Malta           209,844     14,223,140 

Ireland        4,603,133                       -   

USA        1,364,256                       -   

Other countries        4,465,186        1,418,904 

    10,642,419     15,642,044 

	 Other countries comprise revenue based on geographical location of customers, which individually are immaterial and 
do not exceed 10% of total revenue.

 
7.4	M ajor customers
 
	 For the year ended 31 December 2013, revenues from two major customers of the licensing segment amounted to 

€6,425,980 and €2,342,941 of the Group’s total revenues.

	 For the year ended 31 December 2012, revenues from two major customers of the licensing segment amounted to 
€4,603,133 and €1,364,256 of the Group’s total revenues.
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8	R evenue

	 Revenue is stated after deduction of sales rebates and indirect taxes.

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

8.1 Category of activity
Licence fees         6,632,973         4,560,869        6,632,973       6,560,869 

Service fees         4,581,400         3,361,381        3,937,468       3,421,381 

Maintenance fees         1,483,431         1,497,006        1,480,981       1,497,006 

Comprehensive packages         1,033,992         1,033,992        1,033,992       1,033,992 

Re-imbursement of expenses             398,468            189,171            399,481           189,171 

      14,130,264      10,642,419      13,484,895     12,702,419 

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

8.2 Geographical markets 

Europe       13,665,127         8,099,414      13,019,758     10,159,414 

Middle East             462,541            722,780            462,541           722,780 

United States of America                 2,596         1,763,381                 2,596       1,763,381 

Asia                        -                 56,844                        -               56,844 

      14,130,264      10,642,419      13,484,895     12,702,419 

9	 Profit before income tax

9.1	 The Group’s profit before income tax includes total fees charged by the auditors of the Company during 2013 for:	
	

€

Auditors’ remuneration             38,500 

	 The fee payable to the auditor of a subsidiary in relation to audit services for 2013 amounts to €4,000.
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9	 Profit before income tax (continued)

9.2 Other income The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Third party grants                        -                 38,114                        -               28,116 

Realised operating exchange gains                     -               47,652                        -               47,652 

Gains from disposal of asset                        -                   2,338                        -                  2,338 

Decrease in provision for impairment loss on trade   
  receivables               11,819                        -                11,819                       -   

Other income                 2,522                     356                 2,522                   356 

14,341               88,460              14,341             78,462 

9.3 Other expenses The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Realised operating exchange losses               27,290                        -                27,393                       -   

Unrealised operating exchange losses               75,008               41,660              82,146             44,334 

Increase in provision for impairment loss on trade  
  receivables

                       -              150,868                        -             150,868 

            102,298            192,528            109,539           195,202 

10	 Personnel expenses

10.1	 Personnel expenses incurred by the Group and the Company during the year are analysed as follows:

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Directors’ emoluments:

   Fees               77,000 38,322              77,000 33,750

   Remuneration             650,309 346,186            650,309 346,186

   Indemnity insurance               11,203 9,462              11,203 9,462

   Fringe benefits               23,016 15,394              23,016 15,394

            761,528 409,364            761,528           404,792 

Wages and salaries         3,155,431 2,699,818        2,868,389 2,512,530

Social security contributions             211,552 165,735            202,353 154,825

        4,128,511 3,274,917        3,832,270       3,072,147 
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10	 Personnel expenses (continued)

10.2	 The weekly average number of persons employed by the Group and the Company during the year were as follows:

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

No. No. No. No.

Operating                       92                       74                       89                      69 

Management and administration                       19                       15                       17                      14 

                    111                       89                    106                      83 

11 Finance income and costs
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Bank interest income                 3,304                 1,805                 3,015                1,787 

Interest income on available-for-sale financial assets                 6,028               35,092                 6,028             35,092 

Interest on loans and receivables               25,334               27,343              64,274             43,659 

Non-operating unrealised exchange gain                 7,976                        -                   7,976                       -   

Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial asset               39,967               32,070              39,967             32,070 

Profit on disposal of subsidiary                        -                 83,797                        -               38,382 

Change in fair value of interest rate swap               73,973                        -                73,973                       -   

Finance income             156,582            180,107            195,233           150,990 

Interest expense          (232,961)          (146,844)          (230,615)         (145,211)

Interest on late payment                   (212)               (1,165)                  (213)             (1,123)

Non-operating unrealised exchange loss                        -              (38,752)                        -             (38,752)

Change in fair value of interest rate swap                        -              (72,099)                        -             (72,099)

Finance costs          (233,173)          (258,860)          (230,828)         (257,185)

Net finance cost             (76,591)            (78,753)            (35,595)         (106,195)

	 All the above items of finance income and costs are recognised in profit or loss.
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12	I ncome tax expense

12.1	R ecognised in profit or loss
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

Note € € € €

Current tax expense

Tax withheld in foreign jurisdictions               (2,040)                        -                (2,040)                       -   
Tax withheld on interest received from related  
  parties             (34,093)               (2,009)            (34,093)            (2,009)

Tax paid on disposal of subsidiary             (13,444)                        -              (13,444)                       -   

Withholding tax on interest received                     197               (3,473)                    240             (3,470)

(49,380)               (5,482)            (49,337)             (5,479)

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary    
  differences 15.3       (1,351,351)          (798,024)      (1,620,395)         (798,024)

Income tax expense (1,400,731)          (803,506)      (1,669,732)         (803,503)

12.2 	R econciliation of effective tax rate

	 The income tax expense for the year and the result of the accounting profit multiplied by the tax rate applicable in Malta, 
the Company’s country of incorporation, are reconciled as follows:	

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Profit before tax 4,255,623         3,149,834        5,067,342       5,651,852 

Income tax using the domestic income tax rate of 35%       (1,489,468)      (1,102,442)      (1,773,570)     (1,978,148)

Tax effect of:

  Non-taxable income             53,853               82,666            53,853             66,771 

  Non-deductible expenses          (174,980)          (202,059)          (142,673)           (31,455)

  Different tax rates on bank interest income 478 - 594 -

  Depreciation charges not deductible by way of capital  
  allowances          (49,759)            (20,121)          (49,759)           (20,121)

  Previously unrecognised tax losses             25,441                        -                          -                         -   

  Investment tax credit given by Business Promotion Act  
  incentives enacted in Malta             300,697         1,159,450            300,697       1,159,450 

  Previously unrecognised capital allowances 2,412 - - -

  Elimination of inter-company transaction             (10,500)          (721,000)                        -                         -   

Adjustment to prior year deferred tax (58,905) - (58,874) -

Income tax expense       (1,400,731)          (803,506)      (1,669,732)         (803,503)

	 The applicable rate represents the statutory local income tax rate of 35% under the Income Tax Act.
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13	 Property, plant and equipment

13.1	T he Group

Land and
buildings

Equipment,
furniture and 

fittings
Motor

vehicles Total

€ € € €

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2012         4,986,851         1,135,980              43,000       6,165,831 

Additions         1,276,400         1,281,518              52,367       2,610,285 

Disposals          (162,058)          (157,204)            (21,486)         (340,748)

Effects of movement in exchange rates                 3,012                     286                        -                  3,298 

Balance at 31 December 2012         6,104,205         2,260,580              73,881       8,438,666 

Balance at 1 January 2013         6,104,205         2,260,580              73,881       8,438,666 

Additions             258,755            596,777                        -             855,532 

Effects of movement in exchange rates                        -                 (4,094)                        -               (4,094)

Balance at 31 December 2013         6,362,960         2,853,263              73,881       9,290,104 

Depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2012                 9,541            958,690              18,627           986,858 

Depreciation for the year               42,493            225,901              21,666           290,060 

Disposals             (10,677)          (118,244)            (14,324)         (143,245)

Effects of movement in exchange rates                 1,134               (1,329)                        -                   (195)

Balance at 31 December 2012               42,491         1,065,018              25,969       1,133,478 

Balance at 1 January 2013               42,491         1,065,018              25,969       1,133,478 

Depreciation for the year               47,688            362,815              14,776           425,279 

Effects of movement in exchange rates                        -                 (4,067)                        -               (4,067)

Balance at 31 December 2013               90,179         1,423,766              40,745       1,554,690 

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2012         4,977,310            177,290              24,373       5,178,973 

At 31 December 2012         6,061,714         1,195,562              47,912       7,305,188 

At 31 December 2013         6,272,781         1,429,497              33,136       7,735,414 
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13	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

13.2	T he Company

Land and 
buildings

Equipment, 
furniture and 

fittings
Motor 

vehicles Total

€ € € €
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2012         4,827,809            926,063              43,000       5,796,872 

Additions         1,276,400         1,246,872              52,367       2,575,639 

Disposals                        -              (34,483)            (21,486)           (55,969)

Balance at 31 December 2012         6,104,209         2,138,452              73,881       8,316,542 

Balance at 1 January 2013         6,104,209         2,138,452              73,881       8,316,542 

Additions             258,753            111,990                        -             370,743 

Balance at 31 December 2013         6,362,962         2,250,442              73,881       8,687,285 

Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2012                        -              794,346              18,627           812,973 

Depreciation for the year               42,493            213,228              14,776           270,497 

Disposals                        -              (34,960)            (14,324)           (49,284)

Balance at 31 December 2012               42,493            972,614              19,079       1,034,186 

Balance at 1 January 2013               42,493            972,614              19,079       1,034,186 

Depreciation for the year               47,688            232,995              14,776           295,459 

Balance at 31 December 2013               90,181         1,205,609              33,855       1,329,645 

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2012         4,827,809            131,717              24,373       4,983,899 

At 31 December 2012         6,061,716         1,165,838              54,802       7,282,356 

At 31 December 2013         6,272,781         1,044,833              40,026       7,357,640 

13.3	 Borrowing costs capitalised for the Group and Company during the year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to 
€101,311. No borrowing costs were capitalised during the year under review.	
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14	I ntangible assets

14.1	T he Group

Goodwill

Internally
generated
computer 
software

Software 
rights

Other 
computer 
software Total

€ € € € €

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2012           575,666       11,281,065         3,000,000            868,997     15,725,728 

Additions                      -              426,288                        -                          -             426,288 

Effects of movement in exchange rates           (11,126)                        -                          -              (16,795)           (27,921)

Balance at 31 December 2012           564,540       11,707,353         3,000,000            852,202     16,124,095 

Balance at 1 January 2013           564,540       11,707,353         3,000,000            852,202     16,124,095 

Additions -             377,807                        -                          -             377,807 

Effects of movement in exchange rates           (24,436)                        -                          -              (36,892)           (61,328)

Balance at 31 December 2013           540,104       12,085,160         3,000,000            815,310     16,440,574 

Amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2012                      -           6,792,354               25,000                        -         6,817,354 

Charge for the year                      -               769,885            200,000                        -             969,885 

Balance at 31 December 2012 -         7,562,239            225,000                        -         7,787,239 

Balance at 1 January 2013                      -          7,562,239            225,000                        -         7,787,239 

Charge for the year                      -               795,967            200,000                        -             995,967 

Balance at 31 December 2013                      -          8,358,206            425,000                        -         8,783,206 

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2012           575,666         4,488,711         2,975,000            868,997       8,908,374 

At 31 December 2012           564,540         4,145,114         2,775,000            852,202       8,336,856 

At 31 December 2013 540,104         3,726,954         2,575,000            815,310       7,657,368 
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14	I ntangible assets (continued)

14.2	T he Company
Internally 

generated
computer
software

Software
rights Total

€ € €
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2012      11,281,065        3,000,000     14,281,065 

Additions            426,288                        -             426,288 

Balance at 31 December 2012      11,707,353        3,000,000     14,707,353 

Balance at 1 January 2013      11,707,353        3,000,000     14,707,353 

Additions            377,807                        -             377,807 

Balance at 31 December 2013      12,085,160        3,000,000     15,085,160 

Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2012         6,792,354              25,000       6,817,354 

Amortisation for the year            769,885            200,000           969,885 

Balance at 31 December 2012         7,562,239            225,000       7,787,239 

Balance at 1 January 2013         7,562,239            225,000       7,787,239 

Amortisation for the year            795,966            200,000           995,966 

Balance at 31 December 2013         8,358,205            425,000       8,783,205 

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2012         4,488,711        2,975,000       7,463,711 

At 31 December 2012         4,145,114        2,775,000       6,920,114 

   

At 31 December 2013         3,726,955        2,575,000       6,301,955 

14.3	 The amortisation of internally generated computer software and software rights is included in cost of sales.
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14	I ntangible assets (continued)					   
									       

14.4	I mpairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill		
								      

	 Goodwill arises from the acquisition of 26% of the issued share capital of Transworks LLC in 2009.  For the purposes of 
impairment testing of goodwill arising on the acquisition of Transworks LLC, the recoverable amount of Transworks LLC 
was based on its value in use and was determined by discounting the projected future cash flows to be generated from 
the continuing use of the asset. For this purpose management prepared projections for an explicit 4 year period 2014 – 
2017 (2012: five year period 2013 - 2017) and applied growth rates for subsequent years.

	 The key assumptions used in the calculation of the value in use of Transworks LLC are the projected level of operations, 
EBITDA margins and the discount rate used.  

 
	 There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved in calculating the present value of future cash flows from the 

Group’s businesses, including management’s expectations of:

∙ 	 growth in EBITDA, calculated as adjusted operating profit or loss before depreciation and amortisation;
∙ 	 timing and quantum of future capital expenditure;
∙ 	 uncertainty of future technological developments;
∙	 long term growth rates; and
∙ 	 the selection of discount rates to reflect the risks involved.

	 Cash flows beyond 2017 have been extrapolated using a terminal growth rate of 1.5% (2012: 1.5%). The terminal 
growth rate was determined based on management’s estimate of the long-term compound annual EBITDA growth 
rate, consistent with the assumption that a market participant would make. The post-tax discount rate applied to the 
projected cash flows is of 15.0% (2012: 13.5%). This rate reflects the current market assessments of the time value of 
money and management’s assessment of the risks specific to projected cashflows.

 
	 Budgeted EBITDA was based on expectations of future outcomes taking into account current negotiations the Group 

has with prospective clients. Revenue growth was projected taking into account the estimated sales volumes for the next 
two years.

 
	 The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined to be higher than its carrying amount. The selection of assumptions 

and estimates by management involves significant judgment and small changes in these assumptions could result in the 
determination of a recoverable amount which is materially different to the results obtained using the variables selected 
by the Group. This is particularly so in respect to the discount rate, timing of cashflows and growth rate used in the cash 
flow projections.

14.5	 The Group’s software rights comprise the ownership title and unrestricted right to explore and use in Scandinavia the 
BankWORKS® software system, source code, documentation and updates/upgrades thereof.  Prior to the acquisition, 
the rights belonged to a related party. 

14.6	 The Group’s internally generated computer software comprises the continuous development and innovation of client/
server Card Management Systems under the trade name of BankWORKS® by the Group’s highly qualified experienced 
team of software developers. Expenditure on the development of computer software is capitalised including the cost 
of direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Capitalised expenditure on computer software is stated at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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15	D eferred tax assets and liabilities

15.1	D eferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

The Group

Assets Liabilities Balance

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € € € €

Plant and equipment                     -                        -           (123,983)             (5,294) (123,983)             (5,294)

Intangible assets                     -                        -        (1,887,991)     (1,688,441) (1,887,991)     (1,688,441)

Impairment loss on receivables         248,459           258,121                       -                         -   248,459           258,121 

Provision for exchange fluctuations 21,579                 4,536            -                       -   21,579                4,536 

BPA investment tax credit         229,452       1,692,974                       -                         -   229,452       1,692,974 

Unabsorbed losses         183,339                      -                         -                         -   183,339                       -   

Unabsorbed capital allowances         239,690                      -                         -                         -   239,690                       -   

Tax assets/(liabilities)         922,519       1,955,631      (2,011,974)     (1,693,735) (1,089,455)           261,896 

Set off of tax       (922,519)     (1,693,735)           922,519       1,693,735 -                         -   

Net tax assets/(liabilities)                     -             261,896      (1,809,455)                       -   (1,089,455)           261,896 

The Company

Plant and equipment                     -                        -           (123,997)             (5,294) (123,997)             (5,294)

Intangible assets                     -                        -        (1,733,992)     (1,688,441) (1,733,992)     (1,688,441)

Impairment loss on receivables         248,459           258,121                       -                         -   248,459           258,121 

Provision for exchange fluctuations 21,579                 4,536            -                       -   21,579 4,536 

BPA investment tax credit         229,452       1,692,974                       -                         -   229,452       1,692,974 

Tax assets/(liabilities)         499,490       1,955,631      (1,857,989)     (1,693,735) (1,358,499)           261,896 

Set off of tax       (499,490)     (1,693,735)            499,490       1,693,735 -                         -   

Net tax assets/(liabilities)                     -             261,896      (1,358,499)                       -   (1,358,499)           261,896 

15.2	R ecognition of deferred tax asset on investment tax credit
 
	 During the year under review, the Group continued to generate taxable profit. Deferred tax liability has arisen during the 

year under review as all investment tax credits brought forward were fully utilised to set off against the taxable profits 
and no further investment tax credits were awarded during the year. This deferred tax liability represents the temporary 
difference between the written down value and the net book value of the Group’s assets.
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15	D eferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

15.3	M ovement in temporary differences during the year

The Group

Balance
1 Jan 2012

Recognised
in profit
or loss

Balance
1 Jan 2013

Recognised
in profit

or loss
Balance

31 Dec 2013

€ € € € €

Plant and equipment               5,364            (10,658)             (5,294) (118,689)         (123,983)

Intangible assets     (1,655,709)            (32,732)     (1,688,441) (199,550)     (1,887,991)

Impairment loss on receivables           198,686              59,435           258,121 (9,662)           248,459 

Provision for exchange fluctuations           (32,848)              37,384 4,536 17,043           21,579

BPA investment tax credit       2,544,427         (851,453)       1,692,974 (1,463,522)           229,452 

Unabsorbed losses                      -                         -                         -   183,339           183,339 

Unabsorbed capital allowances                      -                         -                         -   239,690           239,690 

      1,059,920         (798,024)           261,896 (1,351,351)     (1,089,455)

The Company

Plant and equipment               5,364            (10,658)             (5,294) (118,703)         (123,997)

Intangible assets     (1,655,709)            (32,732)     (1,688,441) (45,551)     (1,733,992)

Impairment loss on receivables           198,686              59,435           258,121 (9,662)           248,459 

Provision for exchange fluctuations           (32,848)              37,384 4,536 17,043           21,579

BPA investment tax credit       2,544,427         (851,453)       1,692,974 (1,463,522)           229,452 

      1,059,920         (798,024)           261,896 (1,620,395)     (1,358,499)
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16	I nvestments in subsidiaries

16.1 The Company

2013 2012

€ €

Balance at 1 January               758,942           905,542 

Acquisitions                           -                  1,200 

Disposals                           -           (147,800)

Balance at 31 December               758,942           758,942 

16.2 Registered office Ownership interest fully paid-up Nature of business

2013 2012

% %

RS2 Smart Processing Ltd. RS2 Buildings
Fort Road

Mosta MST1859
Malta

 99.99 99.99 Transaction processing
services with the use

of BankWORKS® 

Transworks LLC 90 Gordon Drive
Syosset

New York NY 11791
USA

26.00 26.00 Transaction processing
services with the use

of BankWORKS® 

	 On 12 June 2009, the Company acquired control of Transworks LLC (“Transworks”), a transaction processing company 
in the United States of America, by acquiring 26% of the shares and voting interests in the company.  The Company owns 
the majority of class C shares in Transworks, which entitles the Company to appoint three out of five directors. 

16.3 	 On 30 April 2012, the company disposed off 99.99% of its share capital in RS2 Software Asia (Philippines) Inc. 

16.4 	 On 29 May 2012, the Company subscribed to and was allotted 1,200 shares in RS2 Smart Processing Ltd.,  a company 
registered in Malta, representing 99.99% of the share capital of this subsidiary. 

17	O ther investments

17.1 Group and Company

2013 2012
€ €

Non-current
Available-for-sale financial assets 218,978 218,978 

Current
Available-for-sale financial assets - 555,173

17.2	 During the year under review, the Company sold its investment in the avaliable-for-sale financial asset.  Unrealised gain 
on these assets as at 31 December 2012 amounted to €21,187. The Company sold the asset for a consideration of 
€573,953. On sale of these assets, realised gain on disposal totalled to €39,967.
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17	O ther investments (continued)

17.3	 Non-current available-for-sale financial assets comprise an investment in a company incorporated in the United States of 
America that is engaged in the provision of end-to-end electronic payment platforms. The investment is carried at cost 
less any impairment losses.  Fair value information for this investment has not been attributed because the investment is 
an investment in an equity instrument that does not have a quoted market price and its fair value cannot be measured 
reliably.  Fair value cannot be measured reliably because the range of reasonable fair values is significant and the 
probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably measured.

17.4	 Prior year available-for-sale financial assets comprised of investment in Malta Government Stocks which were carried at 
fair value, where disposed during 2013. 

18	T rade and other receivables

18.1 The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Non-current
Trade receivables            647,220                       -                 647,220 -

Amounts owed by parent company            126,731           253,462               126,731           253,462 

Amounts owed by subsidiary                       -                         -             1,143,139                       -   

Loans receivable from other related parties            295,398           399,168 295,398           399,168 

       1,069,349           652,630           2,212,488           652,630 

Current
Trade receivables        2,745,614       3,125,755           2,604,375       3,128,385 

Other receivables              60,877           216,301 13,294           210,810 

       2,806,491       3,342,056           2,617,669       3,339,195 

18.2	 Non-current amounts due by parent company are unsecured, repayable within four years from 2010 and do not bear 
interest. Non-current amounts due by subsidiary are unsecured, and bear interest at 2% and is repayable on demand.

	 Non-current loans receivable from other related parties include loan receivable from RS2 Employee Trust amounting 
to €295,398 (2012: €399,168), which is repayable within ten years from 2010 and bears interest at normal commercial 
banking rates. 

			 
18.3	 Trade receivables for the Group are shown net of impairment losses amounting to €709,880 (2012: €730,135). Trade 

receivables for the Company are shown net of impairment losses amounting to €709,880 (2012: €718,542). 

18.4 The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
€ € € €

Loans and receivables from subsidiaries                       -                         -   1,516,575       1,066,609 

Amounts owed by parent company            356,914           711,934               356,914           711,934 

Amounts owed by key management personnel            350,000           350,000               350,000           350,000 

Amounts owed by other related parties            234,787           271,560               234,787           271,560 

           941,701       1,333,494           2,458,276       2,400,103 

18.5	 The amounts due by subsidiaries, parent company, key managment personnel and other related parties are unsecured 
and repayable on demand. Amounts due by the parent company and the subsidiaries bear interest at the rate of 2% per 
annum.  All other amounts due are interest free. 
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18	 trade and other receivables (continued)

18.6	 Transactions with related parties are set out in note 31 to these financial statements.

18.7	 The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are 
disclosed in note 26.  			 

19	ACCRUED  INCOME

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Non - current
Accrued income owed by third parties        2,968,688                       -             2,968,688                       -   

Accrued income owed by subsidiary                       -                         -             2,200,000       2,060,000 

       2,968,688                       -             5,168,688       2,060,000 

Current
Accrued income owed by third parties        2,865,070       4,480,851           2,808,269       4,480,851 

Accrued income owed by parent company            120,000           210,000               120,000           210,000 

Accrued income owed by subsidiary                       -                         -                   15,828                       -   

       2,985,070       4,690,851           2,944,097       4,690,851 

20 Cash and cash equivalents  

20.1 The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Cash at bank        3,638,738           913,076           3,259,663           889,093 

Cash in hand                4,512                3,126        4,512                3,126 

Cash pledged as guarantee              (8,284)             (8,161)                 (8,284)             (8,161)

       3,634,966           908,041           3,255,891           884,058 

20.2	 The amount of €8,284 (2012: €8,161) represents cash pledged as guarantee in favour of MEPA relating to the full 
development permit granted to the Company for the development of its new premise in Mosta.

	

21	C apital and reserves

21.1 Share capital Group and Company

2013 2012

No. No.

Ordinary Shares

On issue at 1 January - fully paid-up         39,999,956     37,500,000 

Bonus issue           2,500,000       2,499,956 

On issue at 31 December - fully paid-up         42,499,956     39,999,956 

	 At 31 December 2013, the authorised share capital comprised 50,000,000 (2012: 50,000,000) ordinary shares at a 
nominal value of €0.20 each.

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote 
per share at the meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regards to the Company’s residual assets.
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21	C apital and reserves (continued)

21.2	S hare premium

	 Share premium amounting to €1,792,743 (2012: €2,292,743) represents premium on issue of five million (5,000,000) 
ordinary shares at a nominal value of €0.20 each at a share price of €0.80 each. Share premium is shown net of 
transaction costs of €207,266 directly attributable to the issue of the ordinary shares. During the year ended 31 December 
2013, the Company allotted 2,500,000 bonus shares  (1 for every 16 held) approved by the Annual General Meeting held 
on 13 June 2013 at a nominal value of €0.20 each, amounting to €500,000 out of its share premium reserve. During 
2012, the Company allotted 2,499,956 bonus shares (1 for every 15 held) at a nominal value of €0.20 each, amounting 
to €499,991 out of its share premium reserve. 

21.3	R eserves

21.3.1	T ranslation reserve
	
	 The translation reserve of the Group comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations.  This reserve is non-distributable.
	
21.3.2	F air value reserve
	
	 The fair value reserve of the Group and the Company comprises the cumulative net change in fair value of available-for-

sale financial assets until the investment is derecognised or impaired. This reserve is non-distributable. 

21.3.3	S tatutory reserve

	 Part II of the Third Schedule to the Act requires that only profits realised at reporting date may be included as part of 
retained earnings available for distribution. Any unrealised profits at this date, recognised in profit  or loss, are transferred 
to a non-distributable reserve.

21.3.4	S hare option reserve

	 The share option reserve represents the fair value of the employees’ expense in respect of share-based payments. 

21.4 Dividends

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company:

For the year ended 31 December 2013 2012

€ €

 

Dividend, net of income tax 1,000,000 -

Dividend per ordinary share 0.025 -

	 After 31 December 2013, the following dividend was proposed by the directors for 2013. This dividend has not been 
provided for and there are no income tax consequences.

2013

€

€0.02c35 per ordinary share 1,000,000
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21	C apital and reserves (continued)

21.5 Availability of reserves for distribution The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Distributable      10,757,376       8,787,043         13,743,043     11,303,693 

Non-distributable        2,227,075       2,408,404           2,227,438       2,382,940

    12,984,451     11,195,447         15,970,481     13,686,633 

22	E arnings per share 

 	 The calculation of basic earnings per share at the respective reporting dates is calculated on the profit attributable to 
ordinary shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

	 Earnings per share of the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to €0.069 and €0.080 
respectively (2012: €0.058 and €0.114).

	 The earnings per share was derived by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by 42,499,956 (2012: 
42,499,956), being the equivalent number of ordinary shares in issue and ranking for dividend during the year. 

	 During the year, there was an increase in the number of ordinary shares issued through bonus issue (see note 21.2). The 
calculation of earnings per share for the comparative year has been therefore adjusted retrospectively and based on the 
revised number of shares held at the end of the current year. 

23	b ank borrowings

23.1 Group and Company

2013 2012
€ €

Non-current liabilities
Non-current portion of secured bank loan:

   Repayable between one and five years           2,856,018       3,219,419 

   Repayable after five years   298,220       1,021,628 

At end of year           3,154,238       4,241,047 

Current liabilities
Current portion of secured bank loans           1,022,180           919,947 
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23	b ank borrowings (continued)

23.2	 Bank borrowings represent the balances on two banking facilities. The first facility is repayable over a period of ten years 
from the first drawdown, repayable in full by 13 August 2020, and is subject to interest at the rate of 2.5% over the 3 
month euribor rate. The second facility is repayable over a period of 5 years from the first drawdown, repayable in full by 
11 November 2016, and is subject to interest at the rate of 3.3% over the 3 month euribor rate.

	 Both facilities are secured by first general hypothec over the Company’s assets, first special hypothec and special 
privileges over the land and a pledge on a comprehensive insurance policy covering the hypothecated 	property.

23.3	 During 2011, the Company entered into an interest rate swap for the purpose of hedging the risk of changes in cash 
flows related to interest payments on the first facility. The fair value measurement for the interest rate swap has been 
categorised as a Level 1 fair value based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

23.4	 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in note 26.

23.5	 The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is disclosed in note 26.

24	T rade and other payables

24.1 The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Trade payables            474,736           892,934 458,893           748,690 

Dividends payable                6,843                4,322 6,843                4,322 

Other taxes and social securities            343,957           276,972 343,957           276,972 

Amounts due to other related parties            120,128           103,754 11,487                6,293 

           945,664       1,277,982 821,180       1,036,277 

24.2	 An amount of €120,128 (2012: €97,642) due by the group to other related parties is unsecured, bears interest at 2% and 
is repayable on demand. 

24.3	 Transactions with related parties are set out in note 31 to these financial statements.
 
24.4	 The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 26.  
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25	A ccruals and deferred income

25.1 Accruals The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Current

Accrued expenses owed to key management personnel            245,000           137,500               245,000           137,500 

Accrued expenses owed to third parties            517,572           454,361               512,239           576,137

           762,572           591,861               757,239           713,637 

25.2 	 Deferred income classified as current liabilities for the Group €1,814,309 (2012: €1,383,152) and Company amounting to 
€1,808,413 (2012: €1,383,156) consists of customer advances for contracted work and maintenance fees recognised on 
a pro-rata basis with reference to the period to which they relate. 

26	F inancial instruments 			 
							     
26.1	C redit risk					   
							     
26.1.1	E xposure to credit risk				  
							     
	 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk 

at the reporting dates was as follows:	

Carrying Amount
The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
€ € € €

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables            647,220 -               647,220 -

Amounts receivable from related parties            422,129           652,630           1,565,268           652,630 

Accrued income        2,968,688                       -             5,168,688       2,060,000 

       4,038,037           652,630           7,381,176       2,712,630 

Current assets
Trade and other receivables        2,806,491       3,342,056           2,617,669       3,339,195 

Loans and receivables from related parties            941,701 1,333,494 2,458,276       2,400,103

Accrued income        2,985,070       4,690,851           2,944,097       4,690,851 

Available-for-sale financial assets                       -             555,173                           -             555,173 

Cash at bank        3,638,738           913,076           3,259,663           889,093 

     10,372,000     10,834,650         11,279,705     11,874,415 
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26	F inancial instruments (CONTINUED)		

26.1	C redit risk (continued)		
						    

26.1.1	E xposure to credit risk (continued)	
						    

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables, including accrued income, at the respective reporting 
dates by geographic region was as follows:

Carrying Amount

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Non-current assets

Middle East 647,220 - 647,220 -

Europe   3,390,817           652,630       6,733,956 2,712,630 

   4,038,037           652,630         7,381,176 2,712,630 

Current assets

Europe   4,430,488       5,634,067         4,932,808 6,271,583 

Middle East    395,169       1,061,404         395,169 1,128,501 

United States of America    1,617,561       1,950,665         2,402,021 2,726,897 

Asia  290,044           720,265             290,044 303,168 

6,733,262       9,366,401 8,020,042 10,430,149

	 The amounts due by the Company’s significant customers for loans and receivables, including accrued income, are 
analysed as follows:	

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Customers situated in Europe 4,684,192       2,721,546         4,684,192              2,820,827 

Customers situated in Americas      -         1,364,256                         -                1,364,256 

 4,684,192       4,085,802         4,684,192              4,185,083 

				  
The Group

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

2013 2013 2012 2012
€ € € €

Not past due  1,491,995                       -           1,673,733         -   

31 days to 60 days  228,936                       -               869,056         -   

61 days to 90 days  73,922                       -           2,547,755   -   

Over 90 days    3,732,568           709,880             967,771   730,135 

 5,527,421           709,880         6,058,315       730,135 
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26	F inancial instruments (continued)

26.1	C redit risk (continued)

26.1.2	I mpairment losses

	 The ageing of loans and receivables at the respective reporting dates was as follows:

The Company
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2013 2013 2012 2012

€ € € €

Not past due 1,577,676                       -           1,679,282   -   
31 days to 60 days 556,862                       -           1,041,660     -   
61 days to 90 days 77,694                       -           2,650,398       -   
Over 90 days 5,786,081           709,880         1,739,130    718,542 

7,998,313           709,880         7,110,470             718,542 

	 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loans and receivables during the year was as follows:	
			 

The Group The Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Balance at 1 January   730,135           579,267             718,542       567,674 
Impairment loss recognised     (10,776)           151,584                         -      151,584 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations       (9,479)                 (716)               (8,662)       (716)
Balance at 31 December            709,880           730,135             709,880       718,542 

							     
	 Loans and receivables are stated net of a specific impairment allowance. Based on historic default rates the Group 

believes that no further allowance is necessary.	The management believes that unimpaired amounts that are past due 
by more than 30 days are still collectible in full, based on historic payment behavior and analysis of credit risk. More 
specifically, balances totalling €973,560 included in the ‘over 90 days’ category are receivable from two customers that 
are either seeking further clarifications or requesting a revised schedule of payments. Management believes that these 
balances are collectible in full when taking into account negotiations to date and its assessment of the clients’ credit risk.

26.2	L iquidity risk
		
	 The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interested payments.
		

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
Cash flows

12 months
or less 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years

More than
5 years

€ € € € € €
31 December 2013

The Group
Secured bank loans      4,176,418 (4,463,765) (1,136,752)     (1,136,752)       (1,888,941)     (301,320)
Interest rate swap         149,263 (224,722) (56,793)           (48,532)             (96,141)     (23,256)
Accrued expenses         762,572 (762,572) (762,572) - - - 
Trade and other payables         945,664 (945,664) (945,664) - - - 

     6,033,917 (6,396,723) (2,901,781)     (1,185,284)       (1,985,082)       (324,576)

The Company
Secured bank loans      4,176,418 (4,463,765)  (1,136,752)     (1,136,752)       (1,888,941)   (301,320)
Interest rate swap         149,263 (224,722) (56,793)           (48,532)             (96,141)     (23,256)
Accrued expenses         757,239 (757,239) (757,239) - - - 
Trade and other payables         821,180 (821,180) (821,180) - - - 

     5,904,100 (6,266,906) (2,771,964)     (1,185,284)       (1,985,082) (324,576)
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26	F inancial instruments (continued)

26.2	L iquidity risk (continued)

31 December 2012

Carrying 
amount

Contractual
Cash flows

12 months
or less 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years

More than
5 years

€ € € € € €

The Group

Secured bank loans      5,160,994 (5,323,876) (993,545)         (679,900)       (2,628,803) (1,021,628)

Interest rate swap         223,236 (365,567) (73,979)         (122,609)           (121,681) (47,298)

Accrued expenses         591,861 (591,861) (591,861)                       -   -   -   

Trade and other payables      1,277,982 (1,277,982) (1,277,982)                       -   -   -   

     7,254,073 (7,559,286) (2,937,367)         (802,509)       (2,750,484) (1,068,926)

The Company

Secured bank loans      5,160,994 (5,323,876) (993,545)         (679,900)       (2,628,803) (1,021,628)

Interest rate swap         223,236 (365,567) (73,979)         (122,609)           (121,681) (47,298)

Accrued expenses         713,637 (713,637) (713,637)                       -   -   -   

Trade and other payables      1,036,277 (1,036,277) (1,036,277)                       -   -   -   

     7,134,144 (7,439,357) (2,817,438)         (802,509)       (2,750,484) (1,068,926)

26.3	C urrency risk

	 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts: 

2013
USD JOD GBP

The Group
Trade receivables       1,238,881  -        130,659 
Cash at bank           402,648       -         1,109,370 
Trade payables           (41,204)      (32,816)      (2,400)
Gross statement of financial position exposure       1,600,325  (32,816) 1,237,629 

The Company
Trade receivables       1,238,881 -         130,659 
Receivables from related parties                7,500 -         -   
Cash at bank           402,648 -         1,109,370 
Trade payables           (22,147) (32,816)       (2,400)
Gross statement of financial position exposure       1,626,882 (32,816)   1,237,629 
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26	F inancial instruments (continued)

26.3	C urrency risk (continued)

2012

USD JOD
The Group
Trade receivables             670,011 -   

Cash at bank             208,398 -   

Trade payables           (198,699) (42,272)

Gross statement of financial position exposure   679,710 (42,272)

The Company
Trade receivables             670,011 -

Receivables from related parties         1,020,688 -

Cash at bank             177,865 -

Trade payables             (37,952)                  (42,272)

Gross statement of financial position exposure         1,830,612                  (42,272)

	 The following significant exchange rates applied during the year: 

Average rate Reporting date spot rate

2013 2012 2013 2012

USD 1 0.7529 0.7783 0.7251 0.7579

JOD 1 1.0413 1.0572 1.0298 1.0688

PHP 1 0.0177 0.0177 0.0180 0.0180

GBP 1 1.1775 1.2332 1.1995 1.2253

	S ensitivity analysis 
 

A 10 percent strengthening of the Euro against the following currencies at 31 December would have increased/
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the  same basis for 2012.

The Group The Company

Equity Profit or loss Equity Profit or loss

€ € € €

31 December 2013

USD (105,986) (105,986) (105,986) (105,986)

JOD 3,072 3,072                  3,072 3,072 

GBP (134,955)         (134,955) (134,955) (134,955)

31 December 2012

USD (117,161)         (117,161)           (126,133) (126,133)

JOD 4,107 4,107 4,107 4,107 

	 A 10 percent weakening of the Euro against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite effect on the 
above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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26	F inancial instruments (continued)

26.4	I nterest rate risk

26.4.1	 Profile

	 At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets -             555,173 2,546,193 1,605,922 

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 4,417,780       2,299,697         4,038,705 2,256,946 

Financial liabilities (4,325,682)     (5,384,231)       (4,325,682) (5,384,231)

92,098     (3,084,534)           (286,977) (3,127,285)

26.4.2	I nterest rate risk

	 The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings arising from movements in the Bank’s Lending Base Rate. 
 

26.4.3	C ash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
 

	 In 2012, all borrowing costs related to the acquisition and construction of qualifying assets were capitalised as incurred, 
therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss and equity. If the borrowing 
costs were not capitalised, a change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.

Group

Profit or loss Equity

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

€ € € €

31 December 2013

Variable rate instruments 38,718 (38,718) 38,718 (38,718)

31 December 2012

Variable rate instruments (30,845)             30,845             (30,845)             30,845 
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26	F inancial instruments (continued)

26.4	I nterest rate risk (continued)

26.4.3	C ash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments (continued)

Company

Profit or loss Equity

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

€ € € €

31 December 2013

Variable rate instruments 34,927 (34,927) 34,927 (34,927)

31 December 2012

Variable rate instruments (31,273) 31,273 (31,273) 31,273 

26.5	F air values
 
26.5.1	F air values versus carrying amounts	
 

The reported carrying amounts at the respective reporting dates of the Group’s and Company’s current financial 
instruments are a reasonable approximation of their fair values in view of their short-term maturities and in the case of 
the derivative, this was measured at fair value. 
 
The Group’s and Company’s carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts 
in the statement of financial position are also a reasonable approximation of their respective fair values.

The basis for determining fair value is disclosed in note 5.
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27	Sh are-based payment arrangements

27.1	D escription of share-based payment arrangements	

	 At 31 December 2013, the Group had the following share-based payment arrangements: 
	
	RS 2 employee share option scheme (equity-settled) 
	
	 An RS2 Employee Trust was setup during the year ended 31 December 2010 to purchase and hold 750,000 ordinary 

shares in the Company in order to satisfy the future exercise of options by employees in accordance with the scheme.
	 The number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted under the Scheme in a three-year period is 

limited to 2% of the issued share capital of the Company (850,000 shares), and options are exercisable at any time up to 
eight (8) years from the date on which the options are granted.

 
	 The scheme was implemented during the year, with 2011 being the first year of performance. During the year, the 

Company allocated an amount of 357,524 (2012: 275,970) share options to eligible employees to be granted upon 
satisfaction of the performance criteria set for the employees, at an exercise price of €0.66. In accordance with the 
scheme rules, the exercise price was determined by reference to the trade weighted average market price per share, on 
the MSE for the last forty (40) dealing days of the year immediately preceeding the relevant one-year performance period.

27.2	M easurement of fair values

	 The inputs used in the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments were as 	
follows:

2013 2012

Fair value of options at grant date € 1.630 €0.127

Share price at grant date € 2.30 €0.86

Exercise price of share options € 0.66 €0.59

Expected volatility 3.70% 3.40%

Option life 8 years 8 years

Expected dividends 2.5% 5%

Risk-free interest rate (based on AAA-rated euro area central government 1.86% 1.09%

  bonds with 8 years maturity)

27.3	E mployee expenses
	
	 An amount of €407,425 (2012: €31,746) was recognised as employee expenses during the year in relation to the 	share 	

options granted in 2014 in respect of vested options based on 2013 performance.

27.4	O utstanding share options
	
	 There were 198,666 (2012: 245,450) share options outstanding at 31 December 2013. 
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28	Op erating Leases

	 The Group leased its premises at 120 The Strand, Gzira, Malta under two separate lease agreements for two floors. Both 
leases were for a five-year term, lasting until June 2012 with the option of termination with sufficient notice period. The 
lease on premises was extended and terminated till  September 2012.

	 The following amounts were recognised as administrative expenses in the statements of comprehensive income in 
respect of operating leases:				  

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Operating leases - 110,531 - 106,013

29	CA PITAL COMMITMENTS

	 During quarter one 2014, the Company was in the final stages of finalising an agreement to lease property in Gozo. The 
Company will also be investing in finishing of the first floor in the new office premises in Mosta. Restructuring and finishing 
costs of both projects are estimated at €1,250,000.

30	C ontingencies
	

A contingent liability may arise on certain claims against the Group on warranties arising in the ordinary course of the 
Group’s business. Based on historical facts, the likeliness of any future warranty claims is deemed to be remote. 

  
31	R elated parties
	
31.1	 Parent and ultimate controlling party
 
	 The Company is owned up to 50.04% by ITM (Information Technology Management) Holding Limited, a local registered 	

company, the registered office of which is, RS2 Buildings, Fort Road, Mosta, Malta. In their capacity as shareholders of 
ITM (Information Technology Management) Holding Limited, Ulrike Schäffter and Radi Abd El Haj indirectly hold 25.02% 
and 25.02% of the issued share capital of the Company respectively.

31.2  	I dentity of related parties
 
	 The Company has a related party relationship with its parent company, other subsidiaries of the parent company (“sister 

companies”), its subsidiaries, the Company’s key management personnel (including directors and the Company’s senior 
management), and entities in which the directors or their immediate relatives have an ownership interest (“other related 
parties”).

	
	 The Company uses the legal services of GTG Advocates in relation to advice given to the Company.  Amounts were billed 

based on normal market rates for such services and were due and payable under normal payment terms.

	 Directors of the Company control directly and indirectly 28.1% (2012: 35.45%) of the voting shares of the Company.  
During the current and comparative year, the Company was owed an amount of €350,000 from one of its directors. 
Amount is 	repayable on demand, unsecured and interest free.  
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31	R elated parties (continued)

31.3	R elated Party Transactions

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

€ € € €

Key management personnel

Remuneration for services provided by 1,078,068           812,051         1,078,068 748,185 

Directors’ fees paid 77,000             38,322               77,000 33,750 

Dividend paid to 61,130                       -                 61,130 -   

Payments for leased land by -                     486                         -   -   

Parent company

Assignment of receivables to -                  1,211                         -   1,211 

Advances to 11,144                       -                 11,144 -   

Repayments of advances to 589,000                       -               589,000 -   

Interest charged to 6,104                7,622                  6,104 7,622 

Subsidiaries    

Advances to               29,878 401,498 

Repayment of advances to               18,236 -   

Services provided by                         -   159,463 

Payments for services provided by                         -   87,008 

Payments for services provided to             103,024 -   

Services provided to             825,451 -   

Services not yet invoiced provided to             155,828 60,000 

Interest charged to               38,940 11,974 

Repayment of interest charged to               22,953 -   

Payments on behalf of             877,980 -   

Assignment of advance to                         -   138,415 

Sale of Licence                         -   2,000,000 

Other related parties

Services provided by 1,218,708       1,185,426         1,218,708 1,185,426 

Payments for services provided by 1,176,742       1,460,701         1,176,742 1,460,701 

Advances by -               41,924                         -   -   

Loan repayments by 65,935             21,388               65,935 -   

Interest charged to 19,230             19,721               19,230 19,721 

Interest charged by -                  1,717                         -   -   

Interest Repayments 57,065                       -                 57,065 -   

Assignment of balances to -             350,000                         -   350,000 

31.3.2	 The Group is party to an agreement for subcontracted services with RS Consult GmbH, which is owned up to 24.5% by 
a Director of the Company. Services provided by RS Consult GmbH to the Group during 2013 amounted to €1,111,641 
(2012: €988,930).

31.4	R elated party balances
 
	 Information on amounts due to/by related parties is set out in notes 18, 19, 24 and 25 to these financial statements.

notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2013
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independent auditors’ report
To the Members of RS2 Software p.l.c.

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of RS2 Software p.l.c. (the “Company”) and of the Group of which the Company is 
the parent, as set out on pages 35 to 88, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2013 and 
the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 34, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of financial statements that (a) give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and (b) are properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1995 
(Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (the “Act”), and, as regards the financial statements of the Group, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  
They are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  This report, including the opinion, 
has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Article 179 of the Act and may not 
be appropriate for any other purpose.

In addition, we read the other information contained in the Annual Report 2013 and consider whether it is consistent with 
the audited financial statements.  We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements of fact or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
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independent auditors’ report (continued)
To the Members of RS2 Software p.l.c.

To the Members of RS2 Software p.l.c.

Opinion on Financial Statements

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

∙	 give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2013, and of their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the EU; and

∙	 have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta), and, as regards 
the financial statements of the Group, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception by the Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (the “Act”)

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Act requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

∙ 	 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is not 
consistent with the financial statements; or

∙ 	 proper accounting records have not been kept by the Company; or

∙ 	 the Company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or

∙ 	 we have not obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, we require for the 
purpose of our audit; or

∙ 	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by the Act are not made.
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independent auditors’ report (continued)
To the Members of RS2 Software p.l.c.

To the Members of RS2 Software p.l.c.

Report required by Listing Rule 5.98 issued by the Listing Authority in Malta on the Directors’ Statement of Compliance with 
the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the “Principles”) outlined in Appendix 5.1 to Chapter 5 (Continuing 
Obligations) of the Listing Rules (the “Appendix”)

Listing Rule 5.97 requires an Issuer whose securities are admitted to trading on a Regulated Market operating in Malta to prepare 
a corporate governance statement.  In addition, as an Issuer registered in Malta, Listing Rule 5.94 requires that the Company 
endeavours to adopt the Principles and to prepare a report explaining how it has complied with the provisions of the Appendix.  

Our responsibility as independent auditors of the Company, is laid down by Listing Rule 5.98, which requires us to issue a report 
on the Directors’ Statement of Compliance with the Principles, which is set out on pages 25 to 32.  

We review the Directors’ Statement of Compliance, and report as to whether this Statement provides the disclosures required 
by Listing Rule 5.97.  We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control and 
risk management systems cover all the risks and controls in relation to the financial reporting process, or form an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risks and control procedures, nor on the ability of the 
Group to continue in operational existence.

In our opinion, the Directors’ Statement of Compliance set out on pages 25 to 32 provides the disclosures required by Listing 
Rule 5.97 issued by the Listing Authority of Malta.

Kevin Mifsud (Director) for and on behalf of

KPMG
Registered Auditors

22 April 2014
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RS2 Software p.l.c.
RS2 Buildings, Fort Road,
Mosta MST 1859, Malta

t: 	 +356 2134 5857
f: 	 +356 2134 3001
e: 	 info@rs2.com

www.rs2.com


